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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2023
2023

HK$’000
THET

Results (for the year ended 30 June) ¥4& (B Z6A30H L FE)

— Revenue — U 128,737 127,755 139,069 146,944 143,966
— Adjusted profit* —EH,(FE) ()" 9,694 4,558 5,669 3,897 1,793
— Attributable profit/(loss) —JEMEHEN,(E18) 9,694 4,558 5,689 3,875 2,437
— Dividends —f B - — — — —
— Eamnings/(loss) per share —-FRAEF,/(EE)

(in HK cents) (BB ) 3.72 2.06 2.62 1.94 1.24

Financial Position (as at 30 June) Bt % #3% (R6 B30 H)

— Cash and cash equivalents” “HekBeEHE 100,760 108,260 118,848 95,472 83,365
— Total assets —BEHRE 223,951 210,187 216,680 186,243 162,438
— Equity® —Ea 134,593 133,279 107,663 52,821 67,458

Financial Ratios (as at 30 June)  Bi Tt =R (R6H30R)

— Current assets/Current liabilites  —ABEE /B & E 2.01 213 1.95 1.91 1.92
— Assets/Equity” —BE/IER" 1.66 1.58 2.01 3.53 2.41
— Sales/Assets —SEEAE 0.57 0.61 0.64 0.79 0.89
* Excluding reversal of impairment and/or impairment * KEFARERE R SRE
N Excluding overdrafts - TeREES
! Attributable to owners of the Company # NATRER ATE(L
2 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
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EFREBE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Kantone Holdings Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) and
the management of the Group, | would like to present the 2023 annual report
of the Group.

| am pleased to present to you the annual chairman statement for Kantone
Holdings Limited. We have remained committed to our core values of
excellence, innovation, and sustainable development, and have made
remarkable progress on various fronts, with particular emphasis on our
flagship project, Aurora.

Project Aurora, our ambitious endeavor, would be a catalyst for our success
and has positioned Multitone as a leader in the industry. This groundbreaking
project has brought together our expertise, vision, and dedication to create a
monumental development that will shape the landscape of our company and
the communities we serve.

Aurora represents our commitment to sustainable urbanization and the
creation of vibrant, inclusive spaces that enhance the quality of life for
residents and visitors alike. This mixed-use development encompasses state-
of-the-art commercial spaces, residential complexes, recreational facilities,
and green spaces that harmoniously coexist with the natural environment.
Throughout the planning and execution phases of Aurora, we have placed a
strong emphasis on environmental stewardship, ensuring that our practices
align with the principles of sustainability.

Moreover, we have successfully forged strategic partnerships with renowned
international organizations, bringing world-class expertise and innovation to
the development of our products. These collaborations have allowed us to
incorporate cutting-edge technologies, design concepts, and sustainable
practices, setting new benchmarks in the industry. | am also delighted to
report that our other business divisions have continued to perform well.

Looking ahead, we remain steadfast in our commitment to excellence and
sustainable development of our existing products as well as new technology
products. Project Aurora will continue to be our focus, and we are confident
that its completion will be a transformative milestone for the Group and a
testament to our unwavering commitment to innovation and responsible
practices.

BRRR

RAANEBREZEBEBRERAA(EXA2T]
ERAEMNBAR  BAXEENZEES
([BEEE ) RAEBEEEE EX4AEEH
2023 F F 1R °

REREERNARE L EBEEARAANGE
EEREHRE -RA—EBTEH AFNA
BEROZOEES ESEFEMETE
EHER  FRIEERMAERIE B Aurora £ ©

RERMELDDNE N - AuroralB B B &
H AR T L B - 3 A Multitone TE £ & 17 %
WEGE - E-RPWUENBEBEESE T HMH
BEXANE BESMERBES BET @RS
EXBEENERBE SL2ERMAIAMA
RGHRBAOF LS -

Auroraft & 7 1% AT 35 B3 b A1 Bl 75 0
SENBRETEENAR BERABRMG
ENATEZ - ElGAUHEERELER
EEEH FTELFAE BRERXENEF AR
R LT E M - £ Auroraf 7 3 A #
TREE  BPIIEREERRRE  BERRMAD
EETIEREGAFEERORA -

BESN - IR E AN A BRI T B
BEEBHEER REMNERTRTHR
—RHEXEMBNAEIES - BLEAEEEAM
EEABRARHEMN KA BN FEER
TE - RTREBUHFE RERS BT
FRMANEAXBBATEERFERD
xH e

BEXRNR  HMEERT T I AR L
ARELRE PERABELMIEMER-
AuroralB B i ## B2 R MM ES - BRMMAEFH
ERMEREKASEN —EEHEEEER
b EEHERMTERAFTNERETNEE-

EEKEEARAT
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TREHmE &
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to our
customers, suppliers, business partners and the shareholders for their
continuous support during this difficult and struggling period, and give special
thanks to all employees of the Group for their devotion and achievements
under the current challenging social and business environment.

Looking ahead, our management team would continue to enlarge the Group’s
market share and develop along the government’s strategy and objectives in
saving lives, protecting the elderly and vulnerable, avoid hospital overload,
maintain a healthy economy and keep people at work and avoid lockdowns
and restrictions.

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong

27 September 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

As the world emerged from the COVID-19 pandemic with optimism, a conflict
in The Ukraine and political instability in the UK led to a sharp economic
downturn affecting our operations in the UK & the EU. The rising cost of
energy to our operation was considerable, and the knock-on impact to the
cost and availability of electronic components required careful and
considerable management.

Public sector budgets have been squeezed by the need to satisfy wage
demands and private sector investment has weakened.

Despite this, the group has risen to the challenge and has broadened our
supply chain to secure inventory for our critical messaging devices.

During the year under review, we continued to invest in the development of
our next generation of products for the delivery of critical messaging which
would embrace Cloud and Internet of Things (“lIOT”) solutions.

The business continued to focus on the delivery of critical messaging
solutions. In this regard, our vision is to be the leading provider of integrated
communications and automation solutions, helping people embrace the
opportunities provided by apps and the Internet of Things whilst guaranteeing
business continuity with intelligent systems and robust radio technologies.

Technology Business — System Products

Cloud messaging solutions

The migration of our highly successful Multitone i-Message® critical messaging
platform, to allow it to be provisioned from a Cloud computing instance has
proven successful as reflected by sales to public sector healthcare in the UK
and interest from other International markets. As an AWS Partner, Multitone
continues to utilise the AWS (Amazon Web Services) platform for Cloud
computing.

During the year under review the Multitone Messenger smartphone
application was released to the market as an additional offering in the field of
clinical collaboration.

The Multitone i-Message® platform will continue to be maintained and
supported whilst we have shifted our R&D focus and investment to our next
generation Cloud microservices platform known as Multitone Aurora™.

MBRE

B &t R LB I L T COVID-19 KR 1T A 52
2. A ERMNERNBUATIEEK KL
BEBETE FETRMEREMEENE
BeoBRMMNEREEKNATHE LA SHET
TTHERAMABMEEATEHAARE &
EERERBE WL -

ARRIEEXRNTE AHBANRER
BB - MALVEEPINIRE B BRI

BEML SEEITEE THE WBATH
M ER URARRMANESABRERER
BEFRTRE -

BB 4 70 - B PY 5 4R 0 B BB A
EEMEMEN T —RE SR B LER SR
eLE EUETIE] TIPS e

CEEFEINESMSBERARATRNIE
HeorETH RMNESRIXNRERBEM
BEEBMANENTELE EPODAMED
MAERREAMYBREEHOKE RER
BEERGMAENESERMBEREHKD
BEIE-

MEXBE-E2BEMAR

EmFENMEBEMBRAR

3 179 89 Multitone i-Message® B 2 il B EEF &
BRITHEFEER GHEARZFTEEN
EORE E REBECKENETEZRRF I
BREERMARERALBHABEITENHE
NERHAMBEEMSEEPHEE L ERAWS
& YER - Multitone # & 7| A AWS (25 55 % 48
BRI FREITEFE o

B B F E A - Multitone Messenger & 86 F #
ERAERAIEABERBAERINMMER - 75
BTG EHRE -

TE 3 P9 4 48 4 78 I 2 5 Multitone i-Message®
EMERN RMTESMBEELNEREER
3| £ A Multitone Aurora™ H) N — & = HR 7 F

& o
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l\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

Technology Business — System Products (continued)

EkoTek® & MaBLE

Continued development of Multitone’s award winning EkoTek® personal
security platform has led to an increase in sales in the UK within Mental
Healthcare. Following the addition of a new vandal and ligature resistant call
point device for the Mental Healthcare market, we are now in the process of
developing an enhanced anti-vandal device with an increased impact (“IK”)
rating in order to satisfy further market demands.

In addition to this, Multitone successfully developed and integrated a wander
alarm wristband solution for elderly and dementia patient care. MaBLE utilises
Bluetooth Low Energy technology and is fully integrated with our EKOMS —
EkoTek Management System reporting platform to alert EkoTek users when
patient elopement occurs. This product was launched during the period
under review and has become a key part of our German subsidiary’s sales
focus.

Revenue

The Group reported a total revenue for the twelve months ended 30 June
2023 of approximately HK$129 milion as compared with approximately
HK$128 million for the previous year, representing an increase of
approximately 1.0 percent. This was mainly attributed by the performance in
several of our business products, such as (i) sales of EkoTek across the
group, which were largely driven by sales into UK Public Sector Mental
Healthcare market, and the recovery of the Australian market during the year; (i)
(i) UK
Product Support service contract revenue increase; (iv) sales of Cordless/
DECT solutions in the Australian market as this market recovered following
COVID-19; (v) Cloud messaging solutions sales were still modest in
contribution to overall i-Message sales. However. Cloud is still a new
proposition and as most of our contracts renew, we expect to convert to
Cloud based solutions. Alder Hey Children’s Hospital is an example of a
Cloud sale to UK Healthcare for the year under review.

sales of Fires solutions to UK Fire & Rescue services increased;

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

Profit for the year ended 30 June 2023 was approximately HK$9.7 million as
compared with profit of approximately HK$4.6 million for the previous year.
The increase in profit for the year was mainly due to the fair value gain on
financial asset. Earnings per share was HKS3.72 cents as compared with
earnings per share of HK2.06 cents for the previous year.

8 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)
Distribution Costs

The Group’s distribution costs for the twelve months ended 30 June 2023
were mainly attributed to our principal subsidiary in United Kingdom (“UK”) —
Multitone Electronics PLC (“Multitone”), which recorded distribution costs of
approximately HK$26.7 million compared with approximately HK$24.4 million
for the previous year, representing an increase of about 9.4 percent. The
increase in distribution cost was mainly due to increase in salaries, pensions
and employment costs due to increase in headcount in marketing and
headcount in product management, and increase in sales commissions as a
result of increase in sales. Furthermore, we implemented 5% salary review
and staff retention bonus was provided in view of the UK’s tight labour market
during the year under review.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 30 June 2023 were
increased by approximately 5.0 percent to approximately HK$48.3 million (2022:
approximately HK$46.0 million). The increase was due to increase in research
and development costs for project development, and rising energy costs
(especially Electricity), increase in legal & professional fees for UK Group’s
one-off and non- recurring legal cost on staff dismissal matters of about
£75,000 and increase in amortisation & depreciation which was due to the
heavy investment in R&D expenditure in recent years.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year was increased to approximately HK$1,290,000
from approximately HK$629,000 as compared with the fiscal year 2022.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Securities Investments

As part of the Group’s short term investment activities, the Group has
invested in some Hong Kong listed securities, the details and information of
which are as follows:

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of the listed equity investments in Hong
Kong classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted
to approximately HK$14.0 million. This investment portfolio comprised 1
equity security listed in main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

M ES @

7 &6 B A

B E£2023F6 A30R M12 A - £ B 2 5 &
RAXTZEAXAEBRMERBEZIZEWNE A A
Multitone Electronics PLC ([ Multitone ) © & &
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MANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued) XK EEw

Securities Investments (Continued) BHRE @)
A summary of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss $ EEEAFEFAEZ CREEMER
are given below: N UNNE

Financial assets at fair value through A ZEt ABX 2 EREE

profit or loss
STAR CM Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 6698)

EREYRRERDA

(17 K 5% - 6698) 1 130,000 0.04% 3,445,000 10,682,000 14,027,000 100%

1. 6698 STAR CM Holdings Limited

START CM Holdings Limited (“STAR CM”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “STAR CM Group”) are principally engaged in creating, operating and holding
the entertainment IPs.

From their initial public offer documents, STAR CM is the largest variety program IP
creator and operator in China, they also launched “Sing! China” (1 B4 % ). one of
the most popular singing competition shows in China. On 14 July 2023, STAR CM
announced that they entered into a memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) with
Nfkings Productions Limited (the “Nfkings”), pursuant to which the parties to the MOU
intend to enter into a joint venture arrangement to set up a Web3 entertainment
company to capitalize on existing and new opportunities in the Web3 entertainment
space. These are the positive sign of the development of STAR CM. However, the
recent incidence caused the share price of STAR CM dropped by more than 50%. Our
investment committee was noted and closely monitored the development of STAR
CM. As of the date of this report, we are still considered this investment is worth to
hold.

During the year under review, the Group disposed 50,000 shares of STAR CM with a
realized gain of HK$3,625,000 of such investment. As at 30 June 2023, the Group
held 130,000 shares in STAR CM and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealized
gain of HK$10,582,000 in respect of such investment.

1. 66985§§Kﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
ﬁﬁ(}‘*ﬁ&ﬁlﬁﬂ?@i%%f&l)&ﬁﬁﬁ%&
T(a@‘ﬁ%FEE%I%DJ)IE&é%EUm BER
FHRREP-

MO NBEAFABREXH  EFEEXRFE
BANGEPEEEMEEHE  MMEHEDTH
EeEXBONRELBEHE(PREHTES) - X
20234 7 A 14 H i /] E2Nfkings Productions Limited
(INfkings) s L — B E SR RBES
#)) Bt REBESENITNIRIL-—HE
ERBELAB Y —EWeb3IRE R R ([EE =] -
%EIH:D/(TEEWebSﬁﬁmAEWE’JIEﬁ%Qﬂ*ﬁ&%
CELUHRETEXERMNEEEH - Al
Lﬁﬁ$1¢%ﬁl5 S ERE T BB B50% © FAM
WIREZEGIRIUEDNE T2 TEXNE
J=' HEARESHAZB RMDRAUERE
(EESTIC

REBFEAR - AEBEEHE 2 % F 50,0000
&% ZEHREE E B W Z3,625000% 7T 0 7
20236 A30H + A & HE £ 5 130,000 £ 7= #
MG AREBERZEERE R RAER R
10,582,000 JT,

Technology Business — System Products

BEEXEBZ-E2EALTE

E i i-Message — In 55 i #8 4% AR 1%
BMAL BB EEHEFEENK T RMH
Multitone i-Message® i R 77 2 B, U1 b {8 [ 3 3% |
HEBBI[Em]2E -

Cloud i-Message — Amazon Web Services
A significant proportion of our investment in R&D has contributed to the
migration of our Multitone i-Message® solution from on-premise to the cloud.

Our partnership with Amazon Web Services (AWS) on which our cloud
platform is deployed has enabled us to offer a trusted cloud platform to our
existing healthcare customers who are adopting a cloud first strategy.

BMRAE T ET 055 EB%BHAWS
MEEBEREERMNEARRAEES
BEORAERARREP RIUEBREMANE
Fre
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Technology Business — System Products (continued)

Cloud i-Message — Amazon Web Services (Continued)

Multitone is @ member of the AWS Partner Network as a Technology Partner
and we will continue to work with AWS to deliver ultra-fast, highly reliable
Multitone i-Message® services in the cloud.

AWS is highly secure and offers excellent resilience with over 99.9%
availability. AWS is also global, delivering cloud services across every
continent which will help Multitone to market our cloud solutions worldwide. (As
referenced at https://www.multitone.com/partnerships/)

We now have a number of NHS customers in the UK utilising our AWS
instance for the provision of Smartphone Messaging applications, to
supplement their existing on-premise radio paging solutions.

This combination of being able to support Smartphone applications from our
AWS cloud instance, and also support the radio based on-premise paging
infrastructure from the cloud is a key differentiator between Multitone and its
competitors in the UK.

The Award winning EkoTek Personal Security solution

Through continued innovation of our EkoTek and EkoCare family of products
we have been successful in winning a number of high-profile contracts within
the Mental Healthcare market.

Our next generation EkoTek Hub (aka Controller) was released to sales as
expected in Q1 2022 and has resulted in the ability to deploy larger EkoTek
solutions supporting a greater number of devices.

The development of a vandal and ligature resistant call point device for our
EkoTek range of products, resulted in a successful bid to deploy our solution
at the Camden & Islington Mental Healthcare NHS Trust, Highgate Hospital.

This was the largest ever EkoTek solution deployed in the UK which has led
to EkoTek becoming an award-winning solution at the Health Tech Digital
Awards 2022 for Best Mental Health Solution.

Paging

The demand for paging remained strong during the period under review. The
period showed a modest growth in the volume of paging receivers sold,
which supports our continued investment in paging as the best technology
for critical messaging.

¥ EEw
BEEE—EEBA T RE@

E imi-Message—IE 55 i 48 4% IR 7% (&)
Multitone {E & 51T & 1E R £ R AWS 45 & 1E %
PERIRK B - PG HERAWSEE EEF IR
B R - 5 E 7] $ #9Multitone i-Message® i
% o

AWSE E &R 2 WML e K8 %R B R
99.9% ) F] A IE - AWSHL B 2B - £/ K
MR E R - & K EH B)Multitone 7£ & Bk ¥
& 1 H) & B R R (5 2 Z https/www.
multitone.com/partnerships/)

HMEREBEHZEAZAEERBEREP
EREMNAWSE fIREZHEEFHAEE
AR RERbfMREn K| EREST
FRORTT B

EERARBMOAWSE B | 2 45 8 st F#
ERREN  YARXFHRAESHHK] ERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Cultural Products

Cultural products, including precious stones and artifacts, valued at
HK$567,000 (as at 30 June 2022: HK$4,303,000) have been held for trading
and resale in the ordinary course of business. They were included in the
inventories of the Group as at 30 June 2023. Unfortunately, due to the
COVID-19 pandemic which led to the significant deterioration of economy
had caused very substantial downturn in both prices and turnover of cultural
products in China.

All such cultural products, totalling 143 pieces, have been kept in a secured
warehouse run by a world-renowned security solution company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.

Money Lending Transactions

During the year under review, the Company’s PRC subsidiary entered into
four lending contracts (“Loans”) with four PRC companies respectively, both
of which are independent third parties. The amount of loan is RMB2.6 million,
RMB2.4 million, RMB2.5 million and RMB2.7 million respectively. The terms
of the three Loans are for a period of six months and the remaining one is for
a period of twelve month started from the drawdown date, and interest rate is
8% and 6% per annum respectively. The Loans are properly backed by four
guarantors whose financial strength are considered strong enough to act as
guarantors of these loans. All these loans were settled in full on time.

Money lending services were only provided incidentally by the PRC subsidiary
of the Company. Such PRC subsidiary has never held itself out to the public
as money lenders and has never canvassed any borrower to borrow money
from it. Therefore, the Directors do not consider or regard that money lending
is part of the Company’s principal or core business during this Period.

The money lendings were confined to term loan financing with fixed interest
rates. All proposed lendings were considered case by case and no particular
industry was specified for this purpose. However, the Company does have its
own money lending checklist which the Directors would have to observe
should the occasion arise.

Any loan will only be made with our idle funds, and it should only be granted
to those who approach the directors of the subsidiary by their acquaintances.
They would then carry out the credit assessment process and if the results
were to their satisfaction, they would submit the requests to the Directors in
Hong Kong for further assessment and approval.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

Such assessment and know your client (“KYC”) processes follow the
procedures below:

1. Verify the identity of the directors of the borrowers and guarantors;
2. Verify the address proof of the borrowers and guarantors;

3. Obtain a copy of the business registration certificate and company
number if applicable;

4, Check the memorandum & articles of association of the borrower and
the guarantor if applicable;

5. Identify the tax position of the borrower by checking the tax clearance
certificate from the PRC competent authority;

6. Obtain the due diligence report from National Enterprise Credit
Information Publicity System (BEZXNM#ER{EBAREL), and if
necessary, seek advice from external legal advisers; and

7. Obtain and study the financial statements, preferably audited financial
statements if the potential borrower is an entity.

After the collection and verification of above background information of the
intending borrowers, our PRC director and the company secretary
department of the Group would conduct a loan assessment process through:

1. Obtaining the corporate bank account information;

2. Assessing the creditability and financial position of the borrowers by
checking the latest audit report and management accounts and
personal financial background of the guarantor, where appropriate; and

3. Obtaining board minutes of the borrowers for approving the lending.

After having due regard to the borrower’s financial situation, the extent and
quality of collaterals/guarantee and the loan tenure, the director of the PRC
subsidiary would offer an interest rate which would tend to maximize profit
and yet would comply with the PRC’s rule in determining the maximum
interest rates of the loans to ensure that we would not impose interest rates
higher than the statutory ceiling. Normally, the PRC subsidiary would charge
not less than double of the China Loan Prime Rate (“CLPR”).

As of now, the maximum interest rate should not exceed 14.6% p.a., i.e. 4
times of the CLPR which is around 3.65% p.a..
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EEIERE SRS ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

The above due diligence report, KYC and credit assessment documents
together with the amount, terms and repayment method of the loans would
be submitted to the board of directors of the Group for approval. After the
approval was granted, the final loan agreement would be signed by our PRC
director of the subsidiary with the borrower and the guarantor.

The PRC directors of the subsidiary would maintain personal contact with the
borrowers from time to time during the tenure of the loan and would start
reminding them for repayment about one month before the respective due
dates.

The following are our standard procedures for any delinquent loans:

1. Demand letter will be sent to the borrower for immediate repayment;

2. Instruct our PRC lawyer to issue demand letter to the borrower and
guarantor to demand for immediate repayment; and

3. Formal legal action will be taken if:

(@  The borrower refuses to repay; or

(b)  After 14 working days from the date of our legal demand letter if
no settlement arrangement could be reached.

Ever since the current management permitted the granting of such term
loans, there has been no sign that Loans would become delinquent.

OUTLOOK

Following two years of volatility due to the COVID-19 pandemic it was hoped
that we would see a return to more predictable outcomes. However, the
conflict in The Ukraine, and the resultant fiscal policies adopted to counter the
impact of inflationary pressures has led to a continued impact on the supply
chain, coupled with rising energy prices.

Component shortages, supply chain interruption, and cost increases continue
to challenge the management team, but these are starting to ease, leading to
a recovery in the second half of the fiscal year.
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MANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

O UTLOOK (Continued)
Multitone Aurora™

Development effort continues on the Cloud optimised planned successor to
the Multitone i-Message® platform. The first deliverable from the project is due
in the forthcoming fiscal year, which will provide a device agnostic secure
messaging and chat application supporting desktop, tablet and mobile
devices. Additional phases of development have commenced to support
features for Healthcare, Estate Management and Retail customers.

Paging and the future — The Multitone Digital
Alerter (“MDA”)

Whilst traditional paging continues to support the majority of our hardware
device sales in the UK and internationally, there is a continued drive towards
newer transmission technologies such as Wi-Fi and Bluetooth.

Our new device being developed under the project name of the Multitone
Digital Alerter (“MDA”) includes an e-ink display, rapid charging, 2 way
communication and message receipt acknowledgement using Wi-Fi and
Bluetooth Low Energy (“BLE”). Whilst development of this device continues,
early iterations of the design are promising with an expected sales release
towards the end of 2023.

Wander Alarm Wristband Solution for Elderly and
Dementia Patient Care

MaBLE utilises Bluetooth Low Energy technology and is fully integrated with
our EKOMS — EkoTek Management System reporting platform to alert
EkoTek users when patient elopement occurs. This product was launched
during the period under review and is a key part of our German subsidiary’s
sales focus.

Since MaBLE was released in the last quarter during the year under review
and therefore, it does not have impact on the revenue for the year under
review. The initial development was focused on features required for the
German market. We expect a contribution to sales in Germany in the next
financial year.
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EEIERE SRS ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOOK (Continued)
The UK Market

The UK Sales operation has exceeded targets for the fiscal year despite
significant challenges. Whilst it is largely expected that the challenges
highlighted earlier in this report will remain until at least the end of 2023, there
are significant projects within the sales pipeline. The UK team remains
focused and confident that they can achieve an increased sales target in the
new fiscal year.

There is also much to take from the success we have seen during the period
under review and positivity regarding the Multitone Cloud offerings and
performance of our EkoTek® sales in the UK Public sector Mental Healthcare
market.

It is vital that we address market and customer feedback with the launch of
both Multitone Aurora™ and the MDA in the forthcoming fiscal year. These
products will further enhance our available solutions and open new potential
markets.

The EU Market

Our subsidiary in Germany adjusted its financial year strategy in accordance
with economic developments in the EU region. Focus was given to develop
public projects which are well funded during a period of weaker private sector
investment. Outside of Germany but within the EU the market is recovering
after COVID-19 with key-distributors in France and Scandinavia increasing
their sales.

Other markets

Oceania — New Zealand & Australia

Despite the challenges, we have seen increased activity and sales, with the
addition of a new distributor in New Zealand, opening up opportunities for
increased sales of Multitone i-Message® and EkoTek® solutions. Sales during
the period under review in this region have recovered and exceeded pre-
pandemic levels.

US Market

The US Market remains behind expectations. Strategic meetings and action
plans are yet to be implemented by our in region partners, although revenue
has been ahead of the previous period.
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MANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

O UTLOOK (Continued)
Iconic Projects

Multitone has been successful in winning opportunities in the UK for iconic
institutions such as the Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust (CANDI),
and a number of UK Fire & Rescue services including the London Fire Brigade
and the Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service.

Our subsidiary in Germany has been successful in winning its largest order
ever for the supply of a messaging solution to the Klinikum der Universitat
Munchen.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Financial Position and Gearing

The Group’s financial position remained positive.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had approximately HK$101 million (2022:
approximately HK$108 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash. Current assets were approximately HK$176 million (2022:
approximately HK$159 million) and current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$87 million (2022: approximately HK$75 million). With net
current assets of approximately HK$89 million (2022: approximately HK$84
million), the Group maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. As at 30
June 2028, the Group had no borrowings (2022: no borrowings) and a zero-
gearing ratio (2022: zero gearing ratio of the Group, defined as the Group’s
total borrowings to equity attributable to owners of the Company, was zero).

The Company has been maintaining sufficient cash levels to enable it to meet
its liabilities as they fall due. Management reviews cashflow forecasts on a
regular basis to determine sufficient cash reserves to meet future working
capital requirements and to take advantage of business opportunities.

Finance costs for the year ended 30 June 2023 was approximately
HK$1,290,000 (2022: approximately HK$629,000).

KR A= @
* WI::\'H:-IE E

MultitoneZE R Hm S 7 — L ZRERENRD
W BEEBENMFHEBEERREE
(CANDI) + LA K.t BB B B A 2 22 45 B0 22 5L R
FF AR JH BA R BR %5 5 2 B SH B RRUR PR 75 o

BMEBEOTRARN RS T HAE LUK
BEAMITE ARERBALEREHALE
RS E -

BERBERMBER
BHERAREE
REE RS EERFOIHRS -

R2023F6A30R  AEEBEFHR - RITHE
B RS ZREAE S B E 4 HE101,000,000%
7 (20224F : #9108,000,000/8 L) ° /it &) & 2= 4
/4176,000,0007% 7T (2022 £F : #7159,000,000 %

JT) ¢ MR B) & & Al 49 & 87,000,000 st (2022
F  #975,000,000/% 7T ) o A & B R #F R4 8
HREM - W B E EFE 4 489,000,000/ T
(20224 : #984,000,000% 7T ) » 1202346 A
30H  AEBMERE (2022F : EEE) ' A
ERERERART(02F  BALEEEEL

BEARRHEBEARIGERRAFTE  AEEZ
ERRELER/T) -

Bl -—EHFEHNERES KT AREHR
REEEF TEEEETHRSRSAEN - A
BRRANASHBRBETARRNEEER
Fok WHUERBHS -

B B220283F6H0RFE2HBRAEALN A
1,290,000 7T (2022 4F : #7629,0007% 7T ) °

EEKEEARAT
2023 % 4]

17



B 5 A S 0 AT ()
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group completed a fund-raising
exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross proceeds of
approximately HK$11.5 million, with the net proceeds therefrom having been
applied as follows:
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Approximately HK$9.0 million

for repayment of debts
and the remaining
approximately HK$2.5
million for general working
capital purpose

#79,000,0007% 7T A 1
BEEH MHETH
2,500,000/ 7T — R & &
kil

HK$9.0 million was utilized for repayment of a debts and
approximately HK$2.5 million was utilized for
administrative expenses and operation expenses.
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Set out below is a further breakdown of the use of
approximately HK$2.5 million as administrative expenses
and operation expenses:

T #H 5 492,500,000 7017 B & % & B R X 2 B8 4
D

Directors’ remuneration 1,454
EEA kA

Legal and professional fees 1,025
ERREXER

General expenses 21
—REERX

Total: 2,500
HEt:




BIEE S wm LA (8)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)
Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to manage its financial resources prudently and to
maintain a positive liquid financial position with reasonable gearing. The
Group finances its operation and business development by a combination of
internally generated resources and from the capital market.

The group’s sales to its customers in Europe are in Euros, and to its
customers in other countries in US Dollars and Sterling, therefore the group is
exposed to movements in the Euro and US Dollar to Sterling exchange rate.
The group also sources products in Euros and US Dollars and therefore
minimises the risk of exchange rate fluctuations by the operation of both Euro
and US Dollar currency bank accounts. The group trades with companies
and organisations in more than 30 countries around the world. This
geographical spread facilitates a reduced exposure to any particular region of
the world where exchange rate risks may occur.

As the level of borrowing was low during the year under review, there was no
currency risk exposure associated with the Group’s borrowings.

The Group does not engage in any speculative derivatives or structured
product transactions, interest rate or foreign exchange speculative activities.
It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign exchange risk through matching
foreign exchange income with expense and, where significant exposure to
foreign exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments may be
used.

Management deems the exposure on interest rate risk to be low since the
Group’s borrowing has been maintained at a low level.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any capital commitments as at 30 June 2023 (2022:
Nil).

Charges

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with the aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$10.2 million (30 June 2022:
approximately HK$9.8 million) and the future income to be generated from
those contracts of service and equipment rental with an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$37 million (30 June 2022: approximately HK$32 million)
have been pledged as collaterals for the defined benefit retirement scheme of
certain subsidiaries operating in UK.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any charges on assets as
at 30 June 2023.
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MANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)
Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2022:
Nil).

Significant investments held, material acquisitions

and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint

ventures, and future plans for material investments
or capital assets

There were no significant investments held, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended
30 June 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

M202359H27H AS AT 27 SEPTEMBER 2023

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (“Mr. Chan”), has been an executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company since December 2021. Mr. Chan,
aged 61, has over 30 years of experience in the trading and distribution
business. In 1990, he started his own business in the automotive industry.
From 2008 to 2010, he held around 90% equity interest in Richard Mille
Macau Limited, which was the sole agent for Richard Mille in Macau. From
2011 to 2014, he held 55% equity interest in Symphony Lotus Limited, which
was an automotive wholesaler and distributor for sports cars and the sole
agent for Lotus Cars in the PRC. Apart from actively participating in the
trading and distribution industry, Mr. Chan also ventured into the hotel and
property development industry. He is currently the director of Golden Bauhinia
International Hotel, a 4-star hotel located in Nanning City of Guangxi Province
in the PRC. His first venture into property development in Malaysia Kuala
Lumpur is a residential development project known as Pavilion Ceylon Hill in
which he owns 49% equity stake. He is also a director of and owns 20%
equity interest in Sering Manis Sdn Bhd, which owns 280 acres of freehold
land at Pahang, Malaysia, which is about 11 kilometres away from the peak
of Genting Highlands. The project is currently in its planning stage. He is also
a director of Buddhist Li Chong Yuet Ming Nursing Home for the Elderly, a
nursing home in Hong Kong.

As at the date of report, Mr. Chan, through his controlled corporation
Innovative City Investments Limited, is interested in 136,628,444 Shares,
representing approximately 52.46% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

* For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

M202359A27H AS AT 27 SEPTEMBER 2023

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Ka Lim, aged 67, has been re-designated as a non-executive
Director with effect from October 2020 and continue to serve as an
authorised representative of the Company. He was an executive Director from
October 2016 to October 2020. He has over 35 years of professional
experience in the field of finance and accounting. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and a Certified
Carbon Auditor registered under the Energy Institute of UK. Mr. Liu is
currently a non-executive director of Champion, which was the holding
company of the Company before 9 November 2021 and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an
executive director of Champion from October 2016 to October 2020. He is
also a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. From March 2004 to
August 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairman of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now
known as Imperium Financial Group Limited), a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange. From October 2003 to March 2006, Mr. Liu was the
chairman of Wonderful World Holdings Limited (now known as Good
Resources Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From January 2011 to June 2013, Mr. Liu was a non-
executive director of United Pacific Industries Limited (now known as
Superactive Group Company Limited), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica, aged 43, has been a non-executive Director
since July 2017. Ms. To is currently a Barrister-at-Law. Ms. To holds a
postgraduate certificate in laws from University of Hong Kong and a graduate
diploma in English and Hong Kong law from Manchester Metropolitan
University. Ms. To was admitted as a barrister of the High Court of HKSAR in
2009. Ms. To has about 10 years of experience in the legal field. Ms. To is
currently a non-executive director of Champion, which was the holding
company of the Company before 9 November 2021 and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; and a director of
Multitone.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

M202359H27H AS AT 27 SEPTEMBER 2023

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive
Director since October 2017. Mr. Leung has extensive experience in
accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Leung is currently
an independent non-executive director of Champion Technology Holdings
Limited (stock code: 92). Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
2003, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant during 1992 to
1996 in Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock
Exchange on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung had also been an independent non-
executive director of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code:
6898), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, during the period from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr.
Leung is the chief financial officer and company secretary of Da Ming
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1090), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada, aged 51, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since July 2017. Ms. Chung has extensive experience
in auditing and accounting. Ms. Chung held various senior positions in
professional firms and commercial field, including accounting manager of a
listed company in Hong Kong. Ms. Chung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
from York University and a diploma in accounting from The School of
Professional and Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong. Ms.
Chung is a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

M202359A27H AS AT 27 SEPTEMBER 2023

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
Dl RECTO RS (Continued)

Mr. IP Wai Lun William (“Mr. Ip”), has been an independent non-executive
Director since December 2021. Mr. Ip, aged 67, has over 26 years of
investment banking experience in Asia, with a focus on Greater China and
Japan. Mr. Ip was the executive director in the mergers and acquisitions
department of SMBC Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited from April 2012
to January 2021. He served as the managing director and head of the
investment banking department of Cantor Fitzgerald (HK) Capital Markets Ltd
from 2010 to 2012. Prior to 2010, Mr. Ip has also worked at several major
investment banks of Chinese and European background. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Financial Analyst Charterholder of the CFA Institute, USA. Mr. Ip
has been a Responsible Officer for Type 6 (including giving advice on matters
falling within the ambit of The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs (as amended from time to time)) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”). Mr. Ip obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree in Economics and a
Master of Science Degree in Economics from London School of Economics
and Political Science, University of London. He also earned a Master Degree
of Business Administration (MBA) from the Wharton School of Finance,
University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Ip has been an independent non-executive
director of Hopson Development Holdings Limited (Stock code: 754), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since May 2021.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Wai, aged 54, has been the company secretary of the Company
since October 2016, and he is also the chief financial officer and an
authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Chan has 29 years of
experience in accounting and financial management. Mr. Chan holds a
master degree in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
Mr. Chan is currently the chief financial officer, company secretary and an
authorised representative of Champion, which was the holding company of
the Company before 9 November 2021 and the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

M202359H27H AS AT 27 SEPTEMBER 2023

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Edward Paterson, aged 51, is the chief executive officer (“CEQ”) of
Multitone. As CEO, he is responsible for managing the overall operations and
resources of the group. He is also a director of several of the Group’s
subsidiaries. He has a strong IT and technical background, is a member of
the British Computer Society and a member of the Institute of Directors. He is
prioritising the development of new technologies and solutions into the
Multitone product portfolio to allow the group to realise the potential of
opportunities in new marketplaces. He joined the group in 2000 in an IT role
and has held positions within the IT and Operations Management and more
recently as Operations Director before becoming CEO on 1st January 2020.

Mr. Frank ROTTHOFF, aged 60, is the managing director of the German
operations and head of international market. He was also a director of
Multitone. He joined the Group in 2008 and has extensive experience in sales
and marketing management in the electronics industry. His earlier career
covered international sales of industrial machinery and process technology
before entering the semiconductor sector in 1989. He was responsible for the
sales and marketing of a leading European distributor of electronic
components before joining the Group.

SEEEEAE

Edward Paterson %t &£ © T+ — 5% * Multitone &
BEATE(EEHRTED EFREREHT
B MABEEEASENEEBELEENER
N AERAEBETHBARZES AR
BAMEABBEMEME R AREEEHE
GIKEREEEG KRB - MELHTE
1T A0 B8 R J7 2 BY B 2 49 AMultitone £ R 4E & -
FEAREEpEMNTET MR ERETHRE -
RH2000F LA E BB A M AREE - I
EFEANEMELSEEMMETRE  BRX
20201 A1EKARERHNITER REER

BE o
===t

Frank ROTTHOFF % 4 - /X + 5% 12 B ¥ 15
BEVESRCEREEMBEEE Y2
Multitone 2 & % © % 72008 4F I A RN EH - 7
BETTEZHERTHBERBFAHEEZK
Bo WAM1080F MMA X ERITERNEETT
EBRBEBEUEREMZEREEIE MAKX
SEF FEEE —REBEMNEZEEFZIHS
HE T HERMIBHEE -

EEKEEARAT
2023 % 4]

20



EESRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in sale of systems products, software licensing and customisation,
leasing of systems products and trading of cultural products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2023 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 20. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 38 to 62. The above discussions
form part of this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an
Environmental, Social and Governance (“‘ESG”) Report at the same time of
this report in compliance with the provision set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners are
the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company is
committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits. The Group also works
together with its business partners to provide high quality products and
services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 69 in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of
the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the
expansion of the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities
arising in the future. There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) in December 2018, pursuant to which the Company may
declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group, the
liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles of Association”). The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time and there
can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 72 and note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 30 June 2023 are
set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 164.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for the two years ended
30 June 2022 and 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and right of use of
assets of the Group during the year are set out in notes 14 to 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)
Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada
Mr. IP Wai Lun William

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

During the year under review, an one off director fee of HK$740,000 was paid
to Mr. LIU Ka Lim. Save as disclosed, pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules, there is no other change in the Directors’ information required
to be disclosed during the year under review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries,
may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option
schemes of the Company.

Other than the share option schemes described in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying share and
debentures of the Company or any of their spouses or children under
eighteen years of age or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth
under Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Mr. Chan Koon Wa Interest of controlled corporation
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Notes:
1. As at 30 June 2023, these shares of the Company were held by Innovative City

Investments Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Koon Wa, the current
Chairman and executive director of the Company. Mr. Chan Koon Wa is deemed to be
interested in 136,628,444 shares of the Company, representing approximately 52.46%
of the issued share of the Company held by Innovative City Investments Limited.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares of the relevant
associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of the SFO), as at 30 June 2023 as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

136,628,444 (L) (Note 1) 52.46%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POS'T'ONS |N SECUR'TIES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of
the SFO) as at 30 June 2023 as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties” under the
applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party transactions
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
corporations or persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in securities” above) had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

FERR

20236 H30H  MEEME  REZH LK
HEGPEBHERERTRFZERME
o THEEIAL(EXTEFTREZITHA
BrErHE AR —BARE ARAE
FHTETRABRINRARA KD KA
B rHEAEEERAR

Beneficial owner
EmEA A

Innovative City Investments Limited
AR EBR LA

Note: The letter “L” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by
the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, according to the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, there
was no corporation or person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights as at 30 June 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2023.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman lIslands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 31% of the
total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 18%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 20% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted to
approximately 5%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2023, the Group employed about 170 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe. Staff costs for the year ended 30 June 2023 were
approximately HK$69 million (2022: approximately HK$70 million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the capabilities, performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.
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Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources
and Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such
as the Company’s operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, and time commitment and responsibilities of the
relevant director.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such
permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
during the year and has remained in force as of the date of this annual report.

The Group has taken out a directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2023, no claims were
made against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors of the
Company and senior management of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2023 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

Cheng & Cheng Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
27 September 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code. The Board will review its corporate
governance practice annually and make necessary changes if necessary.
Meetings were held throughout the year under review and where appropriate,
circulars and other guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management of the Group to ensure that they were aware of issues regarding
corporate governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual
budgets and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions made by the Board,
the co-ordination and direction of day-to- day operation and management of
the Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans
approved by the Board. The Board receives full support from senior
executives to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval has to be obtained
from the Board before entering into any significant transactions. The
statement of the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 63 to 68 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada

Mr. IP Wai Lun William
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

Two of the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 21 to 25 of this report.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can
provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
provide to the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so that
independent judgement can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings, dealt with potential
conflicts of interest, served on audit committee, human resources and
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company and
scrutinized the Group’s performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company can be critically
reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and
have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio among executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time appoint a
new Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023

40

EES
N AC )

HAMAB IR TESEEBRE Sft
BEREENR BUFRNTEFLHESS
ABBBR=Sz— EMEZZEEFBR
RAREFNEZBE[EENREEREAE]
—EBR-

ERR EEGRE-RBUIFNTE
FOARATEFHEIFATEFTHERSE
HE-EEERR HHERRERRRAE
B RERS 2EERTFE - BIIFNTT
EEMAKERHEEZERANZRER 1t
MABRMERBLAE RETHFEES
EERERBERE BREEEMNATR  HE
ARPEREZBEG ANBRERFMNEES
&ﬁ%;;@&au&w AKBZRA

EH-BAWFZEBBE ARFZER

$1VTZ§ SEER REE-
EFEHHEEXAEORBHAL XERTH
BRKFZEAREXERTMAE 2BES

BERAREFB LA G TR KR &L M
E=ZgHE ATEF FRTEERBIUF
MOTEFHZUIBBAE YRAHES
BZARBREBETAZENGIEZER -

Exg EA§E%§$&ﬁ%%$ PIN/N
REBFAE LEIRIER E°$ETJ§%H
BERMA EEC0 T BEZAIHESER
EEELTHRAUHTIEESHKRE - BRI
ERHEE TR TREAETEHREBE 2T
MHEEHTIREELRZTAE 2 T —ERE
BERKeA BEREFTAEENZAS
EEEE



TEERHSE (B

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD (Continued)
Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of Chairman is being performed by Mr. Chan Koon Wa, who is also
being an executive Director, and he is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and development of the Group and the effective functioning and
leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as the Chief Executive Officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by
the executive Director and assisted by the non-executive Directors as well as
the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief Executive Officer, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation at
the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management from
time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least 3
days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision resolved at the
meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EEZ2€ 3 R RE A= 4

M EETI NGS (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general mestings and the mesetings of the REFARNRITIREAGREESES BEE
Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee, E& - - AL BB LRHGMEE S - IZREE @A
nomination committee and investment committee held during the year are set RiEEEZEee@x == HEERLEHNNAT

out below:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate the
overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in
detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all decisions resolved by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
company secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with
Board papers and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. If the Directors consider necessary
and appropriate, they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting instead of
passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no
conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict
issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalf if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 29 December 2022. Details of major items discussed in that
general meetings are set out in the circulars of the Company dated 30
November 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as to
ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal
and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:

EEzHIlRE

EREF(ERHIATEERBILIFATE
B)WBAENEREERETZARAEEUR
AEBEZEB At AEERESRHFERE
MEFEZARAEARSFREHZARER
N AEREBN G RLHNA - AR
EEAXESES A REEREFTZE
BLEMBE URAKEZEBRERR
B ZEFdaNREEREZEZERRERE
MBI AWREE S BIE -

ARBHIRERESTIREIRERTH
BENBILRHEEBELE - REE2023F
BABRALFEAMBEARSHBIL 288
EEERSRANBREDEBEAN2EFE
HEZR NMEBRILE M ENZ N E
REREBEABITEARNENHESS
ELER RES2EZEIWET :

Type of Training
(Notes)
Name of Directors EEHE 32 5138 Bl (B =E)
Executive Director HITES
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman) BRE S (FE) A B
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. LIU Ka Lim BEREE A B
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica S+ A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai RIEFAE A B
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai EREL T A B
Mr. IP Wai Lun William EREfWmEE A B
Notes: it sE -
A Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums. A HEfTE BNe -8k HHE-
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general B: BEAEESER S REKEFE2HE B

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by such
Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.

T % B EF

EEEFHNEEREZERBREFAALAS
BHRBEENARAR RABMET 2B
BREE A REAMERESE-

EEKEEARAT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was further revised and adopted on
29 December 2022. As at 30 June 2023, the human resources and
remuneration committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada
and Mr. IP Wai Lun William.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the Chairperson
and/or other Board members on its proposals and recommendations and has
access to professional advice, if necessary. The human resources and
remuneration committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held one meeting to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 23 September 2014. As at 30
June 2023, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung
Sau Wai Ada and Mr. IP Wai Lun William.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, selecting individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairperson
and other executive director. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held one meeting to
review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@ to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2023, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung Sau
Wai Ada and Mr. IP Wai Lun Wiliam. No member of the audit committee is a
former partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years from
the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in the
auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year under review, the audit committee held two meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2022 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2022. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re-appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by Cheng & Cheng Limited, whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
audit committee has recommended to the Board that Cheng & Cheng Limited
be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings. In
line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval and
record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2023, the
investment committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu
Ka Lim (chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely, Ms.
Chung Sau Wai and two executive staffs of the Company. The investment
committee is responsible for, among other things, to review investment
performance and to advise the Company on their investment of cash, cash
equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral taking account
of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and
purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The investment
committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meetings to
consider and review the possible securities investments of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote
sufficient effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of
the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the
responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on appointment or re-
appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICIES
AND MECHANISM

The Board recognizes that a comprehensive corporate governance
management structure is crucial in helping the Company to implement its
strategies and policies effectively and consistently throughout the Group, and
safeguard the long-term interests of its shareholders. Accordingly, the
Company has established the following policies and mechanism and has
continuously reviewed them to ensure that the Group meets the requirements
of the applicable laws and regulations:

° Board Diversity Policy
o Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views Available to the Board
° Anti-corruption Policy

° Whistle-blowing Policy

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that diversity of
board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the selected candidates
and their contribution to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the current Board composition under
diversified perspectives is set out as follows:

g6 R =

?y Independent

< Non-executive

% Directors

= BIIENTES

8 5 _ ] Female _

3 M

[}

bk

At

i

m 4 _ . -
3 — — .
2 o B
1 o B
0o o B

Designation Gender
ZE R

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

As at 30 June 2023, the ratio of male and female in the workforce by gender
and age of the Group (including executive directors and senior management)
is 30% and 70% respectively as set out above. The goal of a workplace
diversity is to create the right environment where people feel comfortable
working together with both collaboratively and effectively in an environment
without judgment; all staff is able to reach their full potential while working as
a team. The Group considers that the current composition of workforce
diversity objective (gender ratio, plan or measurable objectives for gender
diversity, factors or circumstances affecting the gender ratio, etc) had been
achieved at acceptable level.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF THE BOARD

In compliance with Code B.1.4 of the CG Code, on 29 December 2022, the
Company has established and adopted the mechanisms that was to ensure a
strong independent element, and independent views and input are available
to the board of directors of the Company (the “Mechanisms”). The
Mechanisms cover composition of the board and board committees;
independence assessment; compensation, Board’s decision making; and
review of the policy implementation. The Board will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Mechanisms annually. At the meeting held on 27
September 2023, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Mechanisms and considered that the Group was satisfied
with the independence status of all the independent non-executive directors.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

On 29 December 2022, the Company adopted an anti-corruption policy
(“Anti-Corruption Policy”) , this policy is to outline the Company’s
expectations and requirements on prevention, detection, reporting and
investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption and other similar irregularities;
and to provide information and guidance on recognizing and dealing with
bribery and corruption, the Company has established its group-wise anti-
corruption policy that complies with Code D.2.7 of the CG Code.

Under the Anti-Corruption Policy, the Group has established the Code of
Business Conducts, and has put in place internal control mechanism to
prevent the occurrence of fraud, theft, bribery, corruption and other

misconducts involving employees, customers and other third parties.

The Anti-Corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Company has established a
whistle-blowing policy which forms an important part of its effective risk
management and internal control systems.

Under the whistle-blowing policy, the Group allows stakeholders to report
suspicious negligence, corruption, bribery and other misconduct to the Group
anonymously. All reported cases are investigated confidentially to ensure the
whistle-blower is protected.

The whistle-blowing policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$900,000 (2022: approximately
HK$850,000) and that for non-audit services mainly relating to internal control
review, risk management advisory and ESG report matters was approximately
HK$210,000 (2022: approximately HK$332,000 (mainly internal control
review, risk management advisory and ESG report)).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2023, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human resources and
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the authorities and
responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability to
in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.

provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board,

COMMUNICATION WITH THE
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy on 29
December 2022 with the objective of providing the Shareholders with equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them to
engage actively with the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special
general meetings provide an opportunities for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board.

Mr. Chan Koon Wa, the Chairman and executive Director, and Mr. Liu Ka
Lim, the non-executive Director attended the annual general meeting in 2022
(the “2022 Annual General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed
by the Chairman in respect of each separate issue at the 2022 Annual
General Mesting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2021 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll
on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Articles of Association.
An explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, two or more shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than onetenth (1/10) of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same
manner.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with his/
her/its detailed contact information at Unit 4213, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The identity of the
shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch share registrar
and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder and that if the
request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concermned at the

Plaza,

general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than ten
(10) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by
way of a special resolution in an extraordinary general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in an
extraordinary general meeting other than by way of a special resolution
of the Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual and
interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for
the attention of company secretary at Unit 4213, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements and
circulars. The Company’s website (www.tricor.com.hk/webservice/01059)
provides a communication platform to the public and the shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

On 29 December 2022, the resolution was duly passed for the adoption of
the New Memorandum and Articles of Association (i) adopt a uniform set of
14 “Core Standards” for shareholder protections for issuers; and (i) to
modernize and provide flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct of
general meetings. As such, the Memorandum and Articles of Association was
amended to, among others, (i) allow a general meeting to be held as an
electronic meeting (also referred to as a virtual general meeting) or a hybrid
meeting; (i) bring the Memorandum and Articles of Association in line with
amendments made to Listing Rules and applicable laws and procedures of
Cayman Islands; and (i) make certain minor housekeeping amendments to
the Memorandum and Articles of Association for the purpose of clarifying
existing practice and making consequential amendments in line with the
amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association (collectively, the
“Amendments”). Details of the Amendments was set out in the
announcement and circular dated 14 November 2022 and 30 November
2022, respectively, save as disclosed, during the year under review, there had
been no significant change made to the Company’s constitutional
documents.

The New Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on both the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of
the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring
such systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties
on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system. Such review covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL B B B I R AR B AR ()

CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework B B EENELR

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to HFIHMAB T EEG EM T 248 RERE
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks %7 UNE 2 E# B LBIBEELELR ZE
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial AKXEBXNFEEARR  SEAER FHE
level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversight of E % ~ BB ESIEE 2 M @K 1T

risk mitigation efforts.

BHER UHEEERERRZERE-

“Top-down”
Overseeing, -
identification,
assessment and -
mitigation of risk at
corporate level -
(HEMmT

The Board E=&
Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and internal control
systems;
BRARAEEZEAREEREGERABEEZEHEZ
Sets strategic objectives;
5 E KBS B AR
Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control systems;
Az JE b B IR I E N A B B 2 I 2 ARORK
Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure to our major risks; and
ERFERMBIMERAAZRERET &
Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.
REABEE bz EEMERMTEH -

Management EIEfE
Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and internal control systems; and
HE BEERERRABREERADEZSE: &
Assesses our risk and mitigating measures Company-wide.

FHE AR B & T E LR KR A

mitigation of risk at
business unit level
and across

Audit Committee BEZZEES
Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of the underlying
risk management and internal control systems.

XHREFSERARAZBERARAERREE R ARRE S E 2 6 E KKK -

functional areas
(BTt _
REBEMNEE R
MRS R HE A _
57 1 3 R A B

Operational Level &&EEH
Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business; and
BEB B AW EER R
Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business operations and

functional areas.
REBLERBEEERERREEREF RN EZE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in our
strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations. The
Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks that
are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners are
required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board and
Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (‘COSO”)
framework for internal controls and has five components, namely Control
Environment; Risk Assessment;
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature
of our business activities.

Control Activities; Information and

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of the
plan focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches our
ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.

Due to the changing business environment and development including in
annual budgeting and planning, we are still integrating internal controls and
risk management into our business processes. Instead of treating the COSO
framework as a framework-update exercise, a holistic approach has been
adopted by us, taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management improvement
plan as well as other strategic initiatives (e.g. corporate social responsibility
strategy and reporting). All of these enhance our ultimate objective to make
our risk management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day- to-day
basis by operating units.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement (continued)

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

° The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

° The executive Directors are the designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties such
as the media, analysts or investors.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“1A”) function, and professional staff
with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to provide assistance in
the IA function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit
Committee afterwards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which
are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

System Products

Loss of market share and the uncertainties are the risks we are facing it, great
change is taking place with each passing day on the stage of the internet and
technology world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities in
technology innovation to broaden the market share and keep investing in
products research and development.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates its businesses in Hong Kong, USA, Euro and UK and
transactions are denominated in HKD, USD and Pound. The value of Pound
against HKD and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by, among
others, changes in the economic conditions and policies. However,
fluctuations in the exchange rates of Pound would have limited impact on the
Group’s operations because the portion of revenue from UK will be used and
refinanced in UK.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations during the year.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the risk
management and internal control system were effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has been
identified. During the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant in
strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the shareholders to promote and improve our transparency
are also welcome.

62 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023

o

ARARR RECEERHEARAEER
DERHREMEABEZ -BEEESEN
RAMKEAEBEZCEEREE - AQF
TREGD B R B A B R R iR i A e
ERRBZBERE -



18 M % S A

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Certified Public Accountants

5 w3t BB B AT A TR 5]

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Kantone Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kantone Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
69 to 163, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

FAREREE

AREZFERREBERIMNERHAE  RA
ARGV BBRRNERZAEENSE
- BLFTREERAMNBREREAMBR
RRHEAZRABETFTURE BZMTEHE
LERZIIMEREBNER -

Key audit matter

HREZSER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMETERRNMEERARERER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FE W B 5 BR X EY R E R A

We identified the impairment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
estimation of impairment losses entails a significant degree of
subjective estimation and assessment.
HRERESEFNERYT G BERREEBMEE
BE -UARBEBEGRESRRARIEEN B RAT
B BEMRAEKEIEHAESHREZRSEIE -

As disclosed in the note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the trade receivables net of impairment amounted
to HK$20,377,000 as at 30 June 2023. No allowance for
credit loss has been recognised for the year ended 30 June
2023.

WiF A MR R M 19T B ER - 702023F6 A30H 1%
BEREEZNFEKE S KRN E S5 R20,377,000%
JL o BV E2023F6 A30R I E  WEBREEEERE -

Management performed periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the trade receivables and the sufficiency of
provision for impairment based on information including credit
profile of different customers, ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, expected timing and amount of
realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers. Management also
considered forward looking information that may impact the
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances in order
to estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.

EBEREBETAEFPNGEAMRI BEEZERNEKR
BoBAARERE FRALEHRENENKELREE U
REAEEPOFERIEFSENEREREZRERN
A B RO E R T R T E BT B E T
SERARTEEP XN REHRERNOAEMLER
M 7R B S B B R R E ATk 1F R kT o

We focused on this area due to the management’s estimation
of impairment on trade receivables based on the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.
BMBETHHE AN EEEEMEHREKE S RRIR
RIEMEEFEERAMENRENTEEZFRERSEXR
ER B MGG -
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of recoverability
of trade receivables included:

BB AREE 5 WA AT W BN 2 Fr 845

° Obtaining an understanding of how the expected credit
loss on trade receivables is estimated by the
management;
THREBEBNMAGERKESIERNEHREE
18

° Testing the ageing of trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to the supporting documents and the credit term
granted;
BB B E R E B BR AR IR R B AR B 31 |
ERNERGREEYE

° Challenging the information used by the management to
determine the expected credit losses by considering
cash collection performance against historical trends
and the level of credit loss charges over time;
HEBERNETHNEEESENENRLESR
EFEERAEURAERNEELBENOE LUK —
BRESHEANNEEEBEKT

° Reviewing the accuracy of management’s judgement by
comparing against historical management’s actual write-
offs;

LE BB A B R A MR EE - LAR AR B IR AT e
HEE

o Discussing with the management on their assessment
based on the business relationship with customers in
relation to overdue trade receivables with/without
settlement; and
HEBEAREREARNEAEFPNEBBEMHNE
BB/ REBHBEERE ZHENTE &

° Examining on sampling basis, evidence related to post
year end cash receipt.
WA FAEROE R KBRERE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023

06

BB R E R RS M|
ARFENERE

BPWERAAEREGAVBEHRRERM
EREFEHRRAFRERMEBNEXNE
MR WRFERMBPENREGRELH
ERMNBEENZRBEMBE A BEERE
BRI E - BRUCASNT AT E A A iR » B AP
AR ARENATHEMEMALRRSL
AEEFEAE -

FHETEREANER EREFEE
ERETHERTIETRERELERENT
FE B B K B8 RR BROM - £5 AR PRl 7T & BRFF S8
REL WENKBRESERHBRTA
TEFERERBEZSEAMBERRIEFLNHL
FORER - BIR AEREEREL -

ERBEEAEFEMNETERNBRES
BMERERHABLRFEXREEE - &
75

o BB R AYfh B R RRAF SEE BR T B BUAR
EMBBREFEEAERRANAR
RETRATEZEFUNELZSER
UREBRERMEENBRRZERE (EH
BMERAER - R REFA 88 K &$
HRomE ERER ERRAKEE
RABEZENBERZ £ Bk RaEER
AMFEMEZNEAFRRANER S
RARBEERRFBRME A E R RR
) L o

s  THEBRZMBENAIERE  ARFE
) ZiE o X IFE EHEEAI
MMEERER -

S
A
F
af

. TERANEEMEASTBENNG
EHERtEr et G NEREENS
I o



1&

Iz BEM R E ()

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminated threats or safeguards applied.

REMMBEZES M ERE
BAERENETw

s HEERAFEKLLSAERNREM
Eh&ER URBEMERNEZERE
HERGFEESFRABAABNEN
THEENE KMAIRERHKENTE
REENELEARE - HEMRSF
EEARTHEEN  RANBLEEZR
METREEAEIRGEMBRE
THRBERE-WERKESRE  AE
ARFANER RANERVEREBE
THBEBREAMIEMRENERERE -
A RREELBRATEEHEEE

ERERE -

s HERAMBHRRNEBEEZHRTA &
BLEAT BREEER UAR&GAH
BHRREEPERREBRZNER -

e THEERERAEBIINTHEERE
RERRBENEZRE UEYUERE
BHEREREXRER BRMAEEEEX
WmAR EBMHKT - BFAEAEZER
EEREEE -

ZMEEZZE SR (AP ) B E
HE KRARERBEARTHIRETER %
FRNEREEERNBRETHARNNANEE
ZEVERERBRK -

BMTRABRZESELRE EHHEMS
NEeEMBLIMMERERER YERSF
BATERCERREXERMB LM
BRRKREAET - LA KA R HE (0
M) °

EEKEEARAT
2023 F 5]

6/



B = BE RS (8)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing
Practising Certificate Number: PO6998

Hong Kong, 27 September 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

#HZE2023F6 A30H1EF/E  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FAT
Revenue Uk &= 6 128,737 127,755
Cost of sales 8 6 B AR (54,438) (54,696)
Gross profit EF 74,299 73,059
Other income, gains and losses Halg A - Wz REE 7 3,551 2,985
Fair value gain on financial assets BAFTEFTAERZZCRE
at fair value through profit or loss EZAFERZE 10,582 —
Gain on disposal of financial assets PEEAFEFABREZZSE
at fair value through profit or loss B & E W s 1,181 -
Distribution costs 73 85 A A (26,696) (24,357)
General and administrative expenses — R RITE (48,305) (46,040)
Impairment losses recognised for inventories EEMERZREEE 18 (3,544) —
Impairment losses recognised for loan EWERERNREEIE
receivables (132) —
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (1,290) (629)
Profit before taxation R Bt Al % R 9 9,646 5,018
Income tax credit/(expense) 5K e, (FX) 11 48 (460)
Profit for the year REFER 9,694 4,558
Other comprehensive income/(expense): Hi2mEWBA(ZH):
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or BHTEET D BEEIER 2
Joss: EH :
Remeasurement of defined benefits pension BEWRTFEHRMEZEKR
plans & 7 26(0) (9,779) 20,090

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HEnEgH BB

profit or loss: EA :
Exchange difference arising on translation of INEBBREMESZ
foreign operations b o, =58 1,399 (10,796)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AEEHMEEBIX)
for the year A (8,380) 9,294
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEZHBRALRE 1,314 13,852
Earnings per share FREF
— Basic and diluted e T W& 13 HK3.72cents Bl HK2.06 cents /&l

The notes on pages 75 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial 75 =163 B i # < M i At S5 A AR E
statements. ZEBE D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 % 20224F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B = FE T FB T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E Y 14 35,094 38,811
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 4,986 5,214
Investment property BEME 15 6,013 -
Retirement benefit surplus R ARTE T &R 26(b) - 7,165
Other receivables E e U FRIE 19 2,295 —
48,388 51,190
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 23,150 20,934
Trade and other receivables FEWE F REMERRK 19 34,092 23,837
Loan receivables B W E 3K 20 2,787 5,854
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFTABRZ R
profit or loss B E 17 14,027 —
Tax recoverable & U R 3R 747 112
Cash and cash equivalents BekfleERE 21 100,760 108,260
175,563 158,997
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables FENME S REMER 22 51,743 46,612
Contract liabilities SHAaE 23 31,402 24,096
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 3,087 2,728
Warranty provision 1R B 25 1,123 1,053
Tax payable FERBL SR 59 26
87,414 74,515
Net current assets RBEEFE 88,149 84,482
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERARBAER 136,537 135,672
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 1,924 2,393
Retirement benefit obligations iR AR AR T A 26(b) 20 -
1,944 2,393
Net assets EEFEE 134,593 133,279

7 O KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

2023

2023 F

HK$’000

F#& T

Capital and reserves BAREE

Share capital % 7 28(b) 26,044 26,044
Reserves s 108,549 107,235
Total equity EREE 134,593 133,279

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 74 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 September 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

CHAN KOON WA
BRE %

Chairman

T

The notes on pages 75 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.

FOOETAE FTH 2 476 B 75 3R % B 2023 F
OF2THmESREHERRETE W h T
BERRFZE:

LIU KA LIM
BEE
Director

EF

FISEIEAH cHEAMSEEAUBRE
ZHKEE S o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#(Z2023F6 A30H1EFE  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

At 1 July 2021 2021 7A1R 21,704 799,317 966,807 13,179 (1,693,344) 107,663
Profit for the year KERREH - - - - 4,558 4,568
Remeasurement of defined BEBTHNH 2RI

benefits pension plans & - - - - 20,090 20,090
Exchange difference arisingon ~ REINERBERESL 2

translation of foreign operations  [& i, Z % - - - (10,796) - (10,796)

Total comprehensive income AEEEABALE
for the year - - - (10,796) 24,648 13,852

Issuance of new shares upon BLERMDEETHRNF
placing of shares less R H A (Hi 5t 28(b)
transaction costs (note 28(0)) 4,340 7,424 - - - 11,764

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 120226 4308 &

202%7H1H 26,044 806,741 966,807 2,383 (1,668,696) 133,279
Profit for the year AEFRF - - - - 9,604 9,694
Remeasurement of defined EERTHNHZER
benefits pension plans BF - - - - 9,779 (9,779
Exchange difference arisingon ~ EEINEBIBMEFEL 2
tranglation of foreign operations (B £ & - - - 1,399 - 1,399

Total comprehensive income for ~ AEE2ENAAE

the year - - - 1,399 (85) 1,314
At 30 June 2023 R2023%6H30A 26,044 806,741 966,807* 3,782 (1,668,781)* 134,593
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately — * WERBRFARGAVMBEMRARZEEREE
HK$108,549,000 (30 June 2022: HK$107,235,000) in the consolidated statement of #7108,549,0007% 7T (202246 A30H : 107,235,000
financial position. BIT) °

The notes on pages 75 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial £ 75F 163 B & v Mt At Z iz 4 B R E
statements. ZHBKE D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#HZE2023F6 A30H1EF/E  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 TER FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REEBRER
Profit before taxation B %50 A1 V5 A 9,646 5,018
Adjustments for: PR
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - RE L& EZITE 9 8,264 8,182
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 9 3,150 2,847
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE WEMERFEEIE
equipment 101 130
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair BERAVTEGFABERZ
value through profit or loss eMEEZAFERET (10,582) -
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair HEZAFEFAEBREZ
value through profit or loss eRMEENKE (1,181) —
Gain on lease termination It E R () @
Finance costs B 7 B AR 8 1,290 629
Warranty provision for the year FRARERE 25 142
Impairment losses recognised for inventories gt 17 & #E 32 2l (E K5 18 18 3,544 -
Impairment losses recognised for W E R R
loan receivables B & 1R 132 -
Interest income FE A 7 (1,498) (574)
12,883 16,372
Increase in inventories FEZEm (4,918) )
(Increase)/decrease in trade and EWE 5 Rk HEMERRZ
other receivables (38 hn),/ %k (11,783) 49
Increase/(decrease) in trade and ENESRHEMERZ
other payables # o, CR2) 2,920 (5,242)
Net movement of retirement benefit fund RIKEREFE (1,521) (2,654)
Increase in contract liabilities GHREE LM 6,114 1,998
Decrease in warranty provision REBHZRD = ©)
Net cash generated from operations KEEBHMEB 2RSSR 3,695 10,509
Income tax paid B ATEH (535) (310)
Net cash generated from operating REEKFMEECHSRE
activities 3,160 10,199
EREEERAA
2023 F 3§ 7 8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

HZE2023F6A30H [FFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M 2 THET FA&T
Cash flows from investing activities BETBZ2RER
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  FEW % - WE R & 14 (9,021) (16,811)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERAFETFAEBERZ
through profit or loss TEEE (7,791) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZRAFET AR
at fair value through profit or loss T REEMERIE 5,527 -
Advances of loan to third parties ME=ZFBNER (11,475) -
Repayment of loan from third parties KEAFEF=-ZFWERER 14,063 2,966
Interest received 2 F S 571 574
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMEZEESFE (8,126) (13,271)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITBZEESR
Net proceeds from issuance of shares WITIRERE 238 - 11,764
Repayment to ultimate holding company 15 BREERATIER 21(b) - (7,369)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE 21(b) (3,022) (2,847)
Interest paid BRF B 21(b) (200) (629)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMETE () Bz
financing activities ReFHE (3,222) 919
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BehBEeEE2
B R (8,188) (2,153)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYRERBCERE
of the year 108,260 118,848
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes MERFE) 25 688 (8,435)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FHESRBRSEHE
of the year 100,760 108,260

The notes on pages 75 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial S5 75F 163 E & v MisE Bt H 454 B KR =K
statements. 2 AR ER 7 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

1.

GENERAL

Kantone Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The ultimate holding company of the
Company is Innovative City Investments Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and owned by Mr. Chan Koon Wa.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of
the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two

Model Rules

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

1.

IGED

EREBERAR(ARQALD THRIERH
ERBZARAERETNE-_T-=%
EREREEMRLAERRERA
A ERONRBBBAERZAER AR
(TREHDERET - RRAZ ZHARE
BARBHAKREBRAR  HNEE
BEEES(RBERHBR]) EMMAL
VHREELEER -ARAEMBPEE
BREBZXWE 2t RFR(E
EER) —HPHE -

mEMBHRERDAET(ER] TAK
REINNEEE) 20 -BRBERE
v FRBEBEENEBEEREI T -

ARAB—MBREEBRAF - LU EA

Bl EREBEENHIESS -

EREBME®REER
(&8 B EHER
HY 18 7] A<

RAFEE  ARBREKERE(HHE
[(AEE)ERERBATHBEE S
NG ((EEEFTMAE)) B/M2K2022
FTAVRSRZ &SR 2 FEHMERG &
MeBERBRELENNETA AR/
SUREMBHEK

BRAMBREENE HoER RL
REACCHEN)
BREGEMF6R NE BERRE-HE
CCHEN) FE R 2 FTER0R

BRG EAEIR FEAH BTN

(BFTA) PR AR
BERUMBREED  BHAEWBEREER2018
(BRI K) FE0FRHZF
S i
AR ENERS BRHERE-F =X
(BT A) 1 8 255 Al

AEEZERABTAVBRS ERNNEBRTA
HZEGRMBRERABEAEERAF
EREMFENTBRRRMKRR K
BRREIESATZE -

EEKEEARAT
2023 F 5]

/9



ire WK M T ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts'
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements®
HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact of the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. T EZiHXK

3.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs (which includes all the HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for defined benefit retirement plan and
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
Leases (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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3.

/3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Statement of compliance (continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company, entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs.

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised. When the contract includes a
significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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3.

80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products and systems and related software licensing) based on the
consideration specified in a contract with a customer and the Group
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group
satisfies a performance obligation when it transfers control of the
cultural products and systems and related software licencing to a
customer. Sales of systems and related software licensing is a single
performance obligation. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at
the point in time.

The revenue from provision of installation service is recognised over
time as the installation service creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

The revenue from provision of maintenance services is recognised over
time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits from the Group’s performance. Input method is used to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Nil

Buildings on freehold land 50 years

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the remaining
unexpired terms of the
relevant leases or 50 years

Plant and machinery and 10%-50%

communications networks

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEi X w

3.

872

(Continued)
Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment property also includes leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
property is measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, and
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of
an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEi X w

(Continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contact are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on
a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on
the consolidated financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contact that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it
is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of use assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. X EE: B R w

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that

are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease

payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease

commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The

Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEi X w

3.

88

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred by
manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial measurement
of the net investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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90

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is presented as a
separate line item. Dividends from an investment in equity securities are
recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation ; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease liabilities,
amount due to a director and amount due to the former ultimate
holding company are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

96

(Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ’profit before taxation’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

FEF TR @

BN E S K HMRXK

ENESREMERNBEQFEE
R HRIRE BT B - M W 5 BE 3R
FEYTEKR AR ATNEE -

-2

EERRKE BEREEAAHREAE
(MEERESMBEEINRHAT AR
RHEZAE) ZBEREHAZS
BAEZRA HERZAERBEIHE
BT AR

A A 1 B AR A B 2 B AR
AR -

B IR

PiT 15 B2 32 H 45 B BA FE < 5% 18 B FE B IR
Z KA o

BVER F& {5 35 T8 T 42 AN 4R 2 B AR B s A &t
H-ERWGEMNEGEREREMEE
WKk 2 RIBRBATE R AR - 45
HRETEREREMFERRT L AN
BzWARZHIER - X AHFR KA
it MK A AT IR Z AR - AEE 2B
HREERERRE AR RML
EELEEMIBERGFE -

EEEEARA R
20232—#& 97



rE W R M ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202356 H30H 30 JUNE 2023

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or
loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company operate a self-administered and
funded pension scheme in the United Kingdom. The scheme provides
defined pension benefits with reference to the final salary of the
members at retirement and their length of service. The scheme is
closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
the present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method.

Service cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “administrative expenses”. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in current period. When the
benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss
at the earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring cost or termination benefit are recognised.
Net interest expense/(income) for the period is determined by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit liability/(asset).
The discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high
quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement plans are
recognised in other comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in accumulated losses and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on
plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability/(asset)) and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related party

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)  is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

or

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

@iy both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. X EE B E ®w

(Continued)

Related party (continued)

()

(Continued)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)()) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

Classification of inventories

The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural
products are classified as inventories under current assets.

Revenue recognition

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from sale of
cultural products, systems and related software. The Group
carefully evaluates the terms and conditions stipulated in contract
and/or sale order with a customer and assesses when the
control of the goods has been transferred to the customer. In
addition, the Group also assessed whether the Group is acting
as the principal (i.e. whether the Group has the primary
responsibility for the sale of goods, bears the risks of loss and
obsolescence, and also has full discretion over the goods). The
directors of the Company have determined that the control is
passed to customer upon the goods are delivered to the agreed
destination. This also is the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(a)

104

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed and considered that the
sales of systems and installation are one single performance
obligation and to be recognised at a particular point in time (i.e.
when control of the systems and software is transferred to the
customer). The Group delivers products to customers after
installation of customised softwares in the systems. The
installation work is carried out in the Group’s premises or on sites
specified by customers. The Group grants customers the right to
use the software and no update or upgrade of the software is
required to be performed by the Group after sales. The sales of
systems and software and related installation are assessed by
the management to be not distinct in the context of the
application of HKFRS 15 as what being delivered to the customer
is a combined product with customer specifications.

The Group sells large telecommunication equipment and
software that need to be installed at customers’ premises. As
management considered that the hardware installation service is
a very simple procedure the equipment can operate and function
as normal way and the customer can choose to install the
equipment by themselves or by third party service provider, the
installation service and sales of equipment are distinct in the
content of the application of HKFRS 15. Revenue from provision
of installation services is determined by management to be
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs the installation service. The Group
recognises revenue in relation to the sales of telecommunication
equipment of a particular point in time (i.e. when control is
transferred to the customers).

The Group signed contracts with customers to provide
maintenance over a period of time. The customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs the maintenance service,
therefore, revenue from provision of maintenance service is
recognised over time.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTANDKEY 4. EAYMERESFEE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION M2 EERFEmw
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

(b) f 5 HEE M 2 RIR

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Estimation of fair value of investment property

Investment property located outside Hong Kong as at 30 June
2023 is stated at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by
SBT Commercial Property Consultants, by using direct
comparison method.

In determining the fair value, the valuer has based on property
valuation techniques which involve certain estimates including
comparable sales in the relevant market.

In relying on the valuation reports, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market condition.

The carrying amounts of investment property as at 30 June 2023
were HK$6,013,000. Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are stated in note
&tk
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

106

Impairment allowances on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables and loan receivables)
Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade
receivables which are not assessed individually. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables and loan receivables based on ECL. The Group
assesses the ECL for each of the other receivables and loan
receivables individually based on the financial position and the
economic environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, and loan receivables are disclosed in note 5.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2028, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$23,150,000 (2022: HK$20,934,000).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5. I A

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Financial assets TREE
At fair value through profit or loss BT EEAER 14,027 —
At amortised cost 1 3 5 A R 139,606 137,576
Financial liabilities TRAE
At amortised cost bieg: - K= 1) PN 51,743 46,612
Lease liabilities HEAE 5,011 5,121

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, loan receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, bank balances
and cash, and trade and other payables. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade receivables, the
management of the Group will only allow customers with good credit
history to pay on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account future discounted cash flows, to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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5.

108

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk of
trade receivables is low based on the sound collection history of the
receivables and the economic environment the debtors operate.
Therefore, the ECL rate of the trade receivables is assessed to be
closed to zero and no provision was made as at 30 June 2023.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables have
been written off for both years.

As at 30 June 20283, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors
and the economic environment of the borrowers operate. As at 30
June 2023, the management of the Group considers for written off of
the loan receivable with credit impaired in previous years. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk of the remaining
loan receivables is low. And, provision of expected credit loss on loan
receivables of HK$132,000 (2022: Nil) has been made.

Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan
receivables during the year is as follows:

5.
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MK2023F6 A30H @ AEBEAXEWER
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FAE R A BB 75 AR 0 A R 18 A S & /Y
SO IR IR PR E B E AR AT RE 1 o 122023
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EREHTRERERNEFEERRRIEK
WHEREENTEREE BB IRRE
132,000 7T, (2022 £F : #E) o

AEEENESREERDZDER
mF :

Credit Non-credit

impaired impaired Total

ERAEE *ERARE &t

HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

F& T T T T T

At 1 July 2021 ®20214%7A1H 6,613 — 6,613

Currency realignment B (759) — (759)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 74202246 A30 B &

2022%7 A1H 5,854 — 5,854

Impairment losses BB 1R — 132 132

Written off BE (5,397) — (5,397)

Currency realignment BEERAE (457) (5) (462)

At 30 June 2023 7202346 H30H — 127 127
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has exposed to credit risk on other
receivables. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
management of the Group makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management of the Group believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s other
receivables.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings amounting to
HK$100,753,000 and other receivables with Champion, the former
ultimate holding company, amounting to HK$7,111,000, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical areas. The credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings
and the compliance of loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T A
Financial risk management objectives and HERBREEEERBE®
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REE SRR @

2023 2023 %
Financial liabilities at &R # 8 KA 5 &
amortised cost ZEMERE
Trade and other payables JEfIZ 5 R H tEEF = 51,743 - - 51,743 51,743
Liabilities at amortised R $4H A 3t &
cost AN
Lease liabilities HEARF 2.1-7.68% 3,232 1,528 452 5,212 5,011
54,975 1,528 452 56,955 56,754
2022 20225
Financial liabilties at REHN RS
amortised cost ZEMER
Trade and other payables JEfHZ 5 R E {1 Rk - 46,612 - - 46,612 46,612
Liabilties at amortised 2 # s AN &
cost ZEfE
Lease liabilities HERE 2.1-7.68% 2,878 2,051 434 5,363 5,121
49,490 2,051 434 51,975 51,733
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to loan receivable and lease liabilities and
amount due to the former ultimate holding company.

The Group does not enter into any arrangement to hedge cash flow
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposits and bank balances
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
that the amount of balances outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 25 basis points (2022: 10
basis points) increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 25 basis points (2022: 10 basis points) higher
or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
after tax for the year ended 30 June 2023 would increase or decrease
by approximately HK$252,000 (2022: HK$108,000).

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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5.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
values of individual securities. The Group was exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 17).

The Group’s listed equity investments classified as financial assets at
FVTPL are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points during
the year were as follows:

5.
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BXRABREEBREREE @

PR 7S (B 15 B

B A B 48 Bl 7 B B 48 210K F K (@ Rl
ERBEEEIMERBRARERIFET
fRzRER - NEEEHEEND R RZ
AFEAABEZEREE(HFE17)Z
PR AR T B A ) AR (B AR A o

REEBLERRATEFABRZER
BEZLITRARERBIM LT X
SRR M EME -

BXARNFAZREOREMNRZRZ A
EEREAERF ZMSRARER AR
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30 June 2023 High/Low 1 July 2022

2023 F 2022

6H30H BE/&1E& 7H1R

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB —BEIEH 18,916 22,701/14,597 21,691

The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the
value of these equity investments.

Equity investment amount to HK$14,027,000 represented a listed
equity investment. Other than concentration of equity risk on this listed
equity investment, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of equity risk.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. £ T Amw

114

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Group’s financial results
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does not
engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the Group’s
policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching foreign
currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

BREREEEEREE @
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2023 2022

2023 F 20224
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE = BE BfE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET FHET FHET
Euro BT 15,321 — 12,989 —
United States dollar eV 5,478 - 4,443 —
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. £ T A

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from
Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange rate
system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation between
Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered insignificant
by the directors of the Company and therefore no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity to a 5% (2022:
5%) increase and decrease in Euro against each group entity’s
functional currency. 5% (2022: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit
before taxation where Euro strengthen 5% (2022: 5%) against each
group entity’s functional currency. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of
Euro against each group entity’s functional currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.
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In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities
The directors of the Company consider the carrying amounts of

financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
FaR FHT
e 649
ﬁi@l‘u«u =3 K@Eﬁj\*ﬁﬂﬁkﬁgft?ﬁ
BONER B - T e R A I AR TR
M F R

CHEERSRAMS A
P

ARREFERRIZEHK AN M
BRIGEZERMEERABZREAER
HAFERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WEkoHEHER
INFORMATION
(a) Revenue (a) W=
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for WHEAEERRIARAZTEHE
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external EmhRERERS 2B W & E WK
customers. FRIH o
The revenue of the Group comprises the following: REBZWZHBETHZE :

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Revenue from contracts with customers £ &8 B 75 3R & 2 B £ 1557

within the scope of HKFRS 15 EFeEHhmBEBERNEP
Revenue from Contracts with Customers & #) U &%
Sales of cultural products HE XL Em = 2,777
Technology — Sales of systems BE—RGHEE (BB

including software licensing R RE) 59,722 55,836
Technology — Rendering of installation B — iRt &5 K 4 AR TS

and maintenance services 45,806 45,624

105,528 104,237
Leases — Operating lease payments that 71 & —[E F 45 & #H E 15
are fixed
Technology — Leasing of system BE—HERZRER
products 23,209 23,518
128,737 127,755

w w 6 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2023



1l3

rE B R M ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

6. W ko EER @

(b) Segment information

The operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance. Three operating
and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
are identified as follows:

e Sales of cultural
products

— includes income from trading of
cultural products

e Technology: System  — includes income from sales of

sales including

software licensing

systems including software
licensing and provision of
installation and maintenance
services

and services

e Technology: Leasing
of system products

— includes income from leasing of
system products

Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding interest
income, finance costs, unallocated income and expenses such
as central administration costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

(b)

REPBNIRBFTEEBHBR
R Z & BE S E 2 A B
BREZN YAARAES
(MERRERRE) EHEHMA
DEERTEDBAFBERE -
BREEVBREENFRLES
B AEENKERAIHREDHEA
Bl RAT=4:

SN

\:

oy IfF A

s HEXILEMm — BREXEEmR

B52HA
s M Bt — BEHEESR
HE (B (BEEMN
LGRS B eT R &
Kk #) REZER
o AR 7%)
Z WA

s M- HER — BREEERS
BREE an B m 2 WA

DHRERESDBEBHERLZ
BHAAMERER TEENE
WA BBRA - ROBEZBAR
sz (a0 mp RTT B AR J2 & = 35 B
F) UHRIBRERREGER
BAOBERFEEDIRZRE -

EEKEEARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WmKkosBEHmw
I N FORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) 2EER @
Information regarding the above segments is reported below: FHELEMSFEERZ|MAOT -

Year ended 30 June 2023 B Z2023F6A30H
LEE
REVENUE I
External and total revenue HOMNEE KBS
Recognised at a point in time RE-BSBEER — 59,722 — 59,722
Recognised over time MERS TR — 45,806 23,209 69,015
— 105,528 23,209 128,737
RESULTS ES
Segment result DREEE (3,307) 3,413 922 1,028
Interest income IP=RN 571
Fair value gain on financial assets & X FE+ ABH 2
at fair value through profitor loss € BB EZ A V&
W= 10,582
Gain on disposal of financial assets & %A FET AR
at fair value through profit orloss % 2 £ @& z W% 1,181
Finance costs B 7% X AR (1,290)
Unallocated expenses, net KO WREAS—F58 (2,426)
Profit before taxation W B A0 R 9,646
Year ended 30 June 2022 HZ202266H30H
LEE
REVENUE 1
External and total revenue HOMNEE Rl =
Recognised at a point in time NE—EEEER 2,777 55,836 - 58,613
Recognised over time & B [ RE R - 45,624 23,518 69,142
2,777 101,460 23,518 127,755
RESULTS E4
Segment result DREEE (390) 7,931 2,312 9,853
Interest income HBUA 574
Finance costs B 75 B AR (629)
Unallocated expenses, net KOBRAS— %% (4,780)

Profit before taxation B B A0 F 5,018

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERDTEER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) 2 EER @

Year ended 30 June 2023 B Z2023F6A30A L&
FE
Amounts included in the measure of FABENERENK
segment profit or loss: BREzeHE:
Depreciation of property, plant and nE - BRELREEZ
equipment neE - 6,791 1,473 - 8,264
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREBEZNE - 2,338 304 508 3,150
Impairment losses recognised for BEEREFBER
inventories 3,544 - - - 3,544
Year ended 30 June 2022 BZ2022F6AH30A L
FE
Amounts included in the measure of FAEENERMK
segment profit or loss: BRZEE:
Depreciation of property, plant and nE- -BERSEZ
equipment TE - 6,314 1,868 - 8,182
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZNE - 2,477 328 42 2,847
No information about segment assets and liabilities is presented BRZEERN TR EHIEHETE
as such information is not regularly provided to the chief BERERKENETERDE R
operating decision maker for resource allocation and KB MW EZINERAYESE
performance assessment purposes. ENBEZEFR -

EBEEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. ERTEER®
I N FORMATION (Continued)
(c) Geographical information (c) HEE R
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue NREBORIKEEEREEFMTH
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location Elo 2 W RIETRBEE DI
of assets respectively: TR TR :

2023 2023
2023 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

People’s Republic of China A1 # A R A0

(the “PRC"), including (THhE)BEES
Hong Kong and Macau KB PY - 2,777 464 972
Europe (mainly United BN (EERRE
Kingdom (“UK”) and ([ZE ) kEE)
Germany) 128,737 124,978 45,629 43,053
128,737 127,755 46,093 44,025
(d) Information about major customer d FEEFZzEH
Revenue from customer of the corresponding years contributing NRIEEFEAAEBBAIEERT
over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as follows: EBBEI1I0%MEFREZIAT :
2023
2023 F
HK$’000
F#E T
Customer A Z2EA 23,790 14,904
Customer A contributed revenue from system sales including KERPAZWREBEREREAGIEE
software licensing and services. (BRI ERRS)

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINSAND LOSSES 7. Htlh A - WB R EE

2023
2023 F
HK$’000
FTER
Bank interest income SRITA B A 571 574
Interest income from loan receivables JE B R A B A 643 557
Exchange loss, net fE 5 g8 55 (1,317) (1,975)
Others HAh 3,654 3,829
3,551 2,985
Note: Others included rental income from investment property and other sundry Mz : HihBIERAIREMENHES KA R EAM
income. RETEA o
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. EIF M A

2023
20234

HK$’000
FTET

Interest on amount due to the former ultimate & 1< BT & 423 R A &) 3018 2

holding company B 1,090 492
Interest on leases HEZFE 200 137
1,290 629

EBEEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BR# A=A

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after & %% Bl % AR 1 A T~ & 1B 1%

charging: BB
Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) BE=/ 2 (MsE10(@) 1,580 1,381
Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneration EEB X K (T BIEEEZE) 69,632 66,991
Retirement benefit scheme contributions other iR K i& | 5T 214 2 (ZE E B HN)

than directors (note 26) (B 5¥26) 2,102 1,932
Total staff costs BEERA 4R 73,314 70,304

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, 1% - E L EXEZITE

included in general and administrative (FFA—M RITEHEZHA)

expenses (note 14) (FF5E14) 8,264 8,182
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in FRAEEE 2T E GtA— R X

general and administrative expenses B HA) (KFE16)

(note 16) 3,150 2,847
Short-term lease payment HHEEE MK 2,058 2,309
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 6 B &

— Audit service — R EUR 5 900 850

— Other service —H b R 7% 210 210

1,110 1,060
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BERAEILZHFERAK 23,328 20,368

w 22 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.EEME ESHF AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST REEBEEBEAEBZHME
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors and chief executive’s (@) EERBETHRAEZ

remuneration B <

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of BB BB A A &0 5383(1) 1 &
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the NE(BEESEFHZER)RMNE
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors) 2 B ESEME A B E
Regulation are as follows: mE

Year ended 30 June 2023 B Z2023F6H30H L FE

Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors’
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments

Fek BRIERE BAEN ESEM=

e HtER BHzRS & wme
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TER THET THERT THET

(note (i)

(B =X ()
Executive director HITES
Mr. Chan Koon Wa (note (iv)) PeR s, == 5 A
(B 3£ (iv)) - - = = =
Non-executive directors EHBTEE
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica TS Lt 480 - - - 480
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BRREE 740 = = = 740

Independent non-executive directors B Y T EE

Mr. Leung Man Fai 2ERE 120 = = — 120

Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada BAEEL L 120 — — - 120
Mr. Ip Wai Lun Wiliam (note (vii)) EEREE

(PR 5 (vi) 120 - - - 120

1,580 - - - 1,580

EBEEEEARAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.EEME  BeH AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST LEEEEBEAECZHME
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR ()

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s (@) EBRRETHRAEZ
remuneration (Continued) [ AT )
Year ended 30 June 2022 B ZE2022F6 308 LFE

Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chan Koon Wa (note (iv) PR E L&

(B E () - - - - -
Ms. Wong Man Winny (note (v) =Lt

(PH 5 (v) - - - - -
Mr. Wu Yunjing (note (i) RR#nk

(B 5 i) - - - - -
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica HFF L 480 — — - 480
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BEELE 540 — _ _ 540

Independent non-executive directors B EHTES

Mr. Leung Man Fai BBRAE 120 - - - 120
Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada EABELL 120 — - - 120
Mr. Clayton Ip (note (vi)) BRIERE
(B 5 (v)) 60 - - - 60
Mr. Ip Wai Lun Wiliam (note (vii)) EERLE
(PR 7 (vi) 61 - - - 61
1,381 - — — 1,381

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.EEM &
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST KeREE
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR ()
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

- . . =2 = /= =
(a) Directors and chief executive’s (@) EERBREITHRAEZ
remuneration (Continued) [0 fAC )

Notes: B &

() The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as (i) BIERBER 2R BEREL
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having H BaAnmzmMER s
regard to the Group’s financial results and the performance of the WREARERBRERAARE
directors of the Company. FIERBEMEE -

(ii) During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the (i) KBS ERR AREHERT
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the MEEZMNME  FREMARSE
Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as VB 550 7 AN A S 4R (B B 2 82 Ry ok 3R AT
compensation for loss of office. N QERG R

(iii Mr. Wu Yunjing has been retired as an executive director of the (iii RABAEERERRANTE
Company with effect from 30 December 2021. = 52021512 A30H B ERK °

(v)  Mr. Chan Koon Wa has been appointed as an executive director of the vy BREELELECEZER/RRAIRT
Company with effect from 30 December 2021. EE H2021FE12 A0 B AR -

) Ms. Wong Man Winny has been retired as an executive director of the ) ERLLIEREARARATRITES
Company with effect from 30 December 2021. H2021412 A30 H B £ °

(vi) Mr. Clayton Ip has been retired as an independent non-executive (vi) EREXFEBRERNRARAB LI
director of the Company with effect from 30 December 2021. MITEE H2021F12H30H #

HEAR o

(vii)  Mr. Ip Wai Lun Wiliam has been appointed as an independent non- Vi) HEGBLECEZERAAFEL

executive director of the Company with effect from 30 December 2021. FBITEE 520214612308 #
R e

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the APTEFIHRGET2HES =2

executive directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable BAREMEMN —BAERZFTAL

in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the REEEBEARAQRFREKER A

management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. ZEBERBCEMRE ZE N X

FE W <& o

Director fee paid to non-executive directors and independent ARAIRBFRPITES REIIEH

non-executive directors were for their services as directors of the TEFETARAESMAARX

Company. NESHEE -

EREEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
(b) Employees with highest emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group do not include any
(2022: Nil) director of the Company. The aggregate emoluments
of the five (2022: five) highest paid employees of the Group, not
being directors of the Company, are as follows:

10.EEME  &E5H AL
KREEBEBAEBZHE

(%)

b) ZEHEES

REBREZGESFTATELRER
15 (2022F )RR B EMESE -
RNEFEBAE(2022F : AR &
BHEE(LIEARAESE) 2

SREMT
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR FHR
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 3,863 4,759
Performance related incentive payments 1% T {ER IR M 2 & - > 105
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & &K 48 7 &1 Sl 4 3% - a1t
e 7,230

Emoluments of five (2022: five) employees were within the
following bands:

E&(2022F : AR)EEZMEN
FTIEE :

Number of employees

BEAH

2022
2022

HK$1,000,000-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000 75-1,500,000 % 7T 3 3
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 75-2,000,000 7 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /% 7t -2,500,0007% 7T 1 -

There were no amounts paid during the year (2022: Nil) to the
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement
from employment with the Group, or inducement to join.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

11. INCOME TAX 1. 885
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T T
Current tax: B EARE 18 -
— Germany corporate income tax — R EMEH 463 573
— Malaysia corporate income tax — SR EEMEH 67 -
— Hong Kong profits tax —BEFEH 36 —
566 573
Under/(over) — provision in prior years: BREFEZEBEIRS
(HBFER ) -
— Germany corporate income tax —EESEREH 1) 14
— Malaysia corporate income tax —ERADREMSEH 11 (127)
— UK corporate income tax —HBEPEMSEH (624) -
(614) (113)
Income tax (credit)/expense TR (Ke) S (48) 460

UK corporate income tax is calculated at 20.5% (2022: 19%) on the

estimated assessable profit derived from UK.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Germany, the Group is subject
to corporate income tax at 31.45% (2022: 31%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in

Germany.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Malaysia, the Group is subject
to corporate income tax at 24% (2022: 24%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in

Malaysia.

Pursuant to the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the

PRC subsidiary is 256% for both years.

ECES SR E YTV RS FA
3 4 2 FI $220.6% (20224F : 19%) 2 B
EEHE -

REBEEEZERRBRO - NEBARR
EEETEBZHBAR 2 Gt ERM
Y A #231.45% (2022 4F : 31%) 2 i =K 44
M ZEFTSE -

BIEFRAR ZERERG  AEBA
HRBRATHETES 2B RE 2 G
=T FE 2R 0% A 4R 24% (20224F : 24%) 2
R EMEE -

RETECEMEREZ(EERBH
B REEMSTEZEREN  FEZ
MEBRRRMERNZH KRS H25% -

ERREERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

11 INCOME TAX (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 milion of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

1. FR 8 )

BEEAFNCSHMAH 6cEREEE
B2 9 B 2,000,0007% JT i F #5 $2.8.25% HY
i =B 0 02,000,000 7T LA £ #9 5 F
1R 165% M LGB - THEEKS
HABH RS HEEF NG
BIRE — T E16.5%EH - At & &%
SBEERE 2B BFNEH JIEE 2,000,000
BT Z EET ERBE F 28.25% &
IF %2 B 38 2,000,000/ 7T 2 1 51 & &% Fim
MZ16.5%5 & o

AFEEZzHRARGABRENAME2EK
MR ZFRBADGE MBI BRAOT

2023 2022
2023 F 20224F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHER FAT
Profit before taxation R B4 A A 9,646 5,018
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 2% ¥ FI15 1 £ 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) (20224 : 16.5%) 5t &
= BIE 1,592 827
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBENERELE 2
operating in other jurisdiction MEBRARz TR E &8 241 273
Tax effect of income not subject to tax or PAE b B A [ B 7B AR B 3k
exempted in other jurisdiction EREEHBRAZHBETE (2,109) (182)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for BEARBEKEENNBcAZ 2
tax purposes Mg 1,930 2,377
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognized &) 8381 R #ER - FIB & 18 9) —
Tax effect of two-tier tax rate MR R ENB B R (36) -
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years EBFFEBBEHBET
(FBEE A E) (614) (113)
Others Hib (1,043) (2,722)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FRABHR(EE), X H (48) 460
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

12. DIVIDENDS 12. g B
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June #H £2023F6 A30H It FE © I &K 2%
2023 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting HEZRZXEMEE BREHTHE R
period (2022: Nil). R AR 32 3 K 35 R ] AR B, (202245F © ) ©
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 8 R 2 A
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the RNANBEBEANFEEZERERNERN TR
Company is based on the following data: BTAIERGE :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FET
Profit for the year N E 5 F 9,694 4,558
'000
Number of ordinary shares BB D& H T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & G REAR B H 2~
for the purpose of basic earnings per share T3 A% N RE S 15 2R 260,443 221,438
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 30 AR E E22023F6 A30H &2022F6 A
June 2022 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there HAILTFEIEDBITEALBA - W
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during both years. MEEE2ERSERMNESRHREARR

AR °

EREEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. 9% BERRE

Cost RAE

At 30 June 2021 R2021F6 A30H 15,603 316,365 331,968
Currency realignment [E 5 35 % (2,077) (35,645) (87,722)
Additions = 6,117 10,694 16,811
Written-off i 88 — (315) (315)
At 30 June 2022 H2022%6 A30H 19,643 291,099 310,742
Currency realignment B 5 3 B 736 12,512 13,248
Additions NE — 9,021 9,021
Disposal HeE - (318) (318)
Transferred to investment property — #2 18& 2= 15 & ¥ 2 (5,887) - (5,887)
At 30 June 2023 R2023F6 A30H 14,492 312,314 326,806
Depreciation and impairment ITEERE

At 30 June 2021 #2021 %6 A30H 4,592 292,794 297,386
Currency realignment PE W32 (506) (32,946) (33,452)
Provided for the year FREE — 8,182 8,182
Eliminated on written-off JHi 8 BRF B BR — (185) (185)
At 30 June 2022 202246 A30H 4,086 267,845 271,931
Currency realignment PE H & 179 11,555 11,734
Provided for the year F R B - 8,264 8,264
Eliminated on disposal i & B RRBR - (217) (217)
At 30 June 2023 H2023%F6 A30H 4,265 287,447 291,712
Carrying values BREE

At 30 June 2023 7 2023%F6 H30H 10,227 24,867 35,094
At 30 June 2022 202246 A30H 15,557 23,254 38,811
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

14.9%  BERKEm®

2023
2023 F

HK$’000
TER

The carrying values of the Group’s REBEZMEEREDERRE

property interests comprise:

Freehold properties held outside Hong Kong 72 & 7 LA SMib [& 35 B sk A

ERzWE
Leasehold land and building held REBUIINDERZEHRE
outside Hong Kong TH RIETF

10,227 15,557

As at 30 June 20283, property, plant and equipment of the Group with
aggregate carrying amounts of HK$10,227,000 (2022: HK$9,797,000)
have been pledged as collaterals for the defined benefit retirement
scheme of certain subsidiaries operated in UK.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

R2023F6A30H A& B 2 AR MEE
/£10,227,0007%8 7t (2022 4F : 9,797,000/
TTIZYE BERIXEEHERERR
RHEEENE THB RN ERRFER
RET IR G o

15. R EWE

Transferred from property, plant and equipment EEEAME BENE 5,887

Currency realignment PE X 78 & 126

Carrying value at 30 June 2023 7A2023F6 300 2 RE & 6,013
Note: B 5

The fair value of investment property of the Group amounted to HK$6,013,000 as of
30 June 2023 have also been valued by using direct comparison method.

The property located outside Hong Kong was transferred from property, plant and
equipment to investment property as the property is leased out for rental income since
February 2023.

REBEE2023F6 A0 2 REMEZRAE
186,013,000 7T I FA B 3 th SORETT (5 1E o

URBBUIINDEEDNE BERIBEEES
REWE  REEZYF B20235F2 A #& HH LA
ERASWA -

EBEEERAT
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. FHEELE

Land and Motor
buildings vehicle Total
T RIEF RE PR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FAT
Carrying amount RESHE
At 1 July 2021 R2021F781H 400 3,903 4,303
Additions NE 2,661 1,720 4,381
Depreciation expense iN=—% 933! (834) (2,013) (2,847)
Lease termination WIEE — (129 (128)
Exchange adjustments 0 H A (94) (406) (500)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 20226 H30A &
202247 A1H 2,133 3,081 5,214
Additions NE 1,223 1,907 3,130
Depreciation expense WEEZEHR (1,304) (1,846) (3,150)
Lease termination BILRE (390) (6) (396)
Exchange adjustments B 5, 3 & 52 136 188
At 30 June 2023 720236 H30H 1,714 3,272 4,986
For the year ended 30 June 2023 HZ2023%6H30H
IEFEE
Expense relating to short-term leases HASGHAFE N EMHEH
and other leases with lease term MER HESEHE12(E
ended within 12 months AR 1,581 477 2,058
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHERE 2,961 2,319 5,280
For the year ended 30 June 2022 HZE2022%F6 A830H
EFE
Expense relating to short-term leases G HHE R EMAE G
and other leases with lease term MER EHAEHE12(E
within 12 months ARN&ER 1,865 444 2,309
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R 2%E 2,752 2,541 5,293

MEHPHE FEEHESERAEMT
BLETKE -HECRNEEHRER
1284F - HE FRHEREMER B R 0%
BER  HP B8 8RERERAMGEMS -

For both years, the Group lease various offices and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 1 to 8
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions.
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17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

17. B A FEF ABRZZE
mEE

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx THETT

Listed equity investments in Hong Kong (note (i) 7% i &9 1 % AN 4% & (M 35 ()

14,027 —

Note:

[0] The fair values of the listed shares in Hong Kong are determined based on the

quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange.

18. INVENTORIES

Bi&E

0 BB LT 2 R FE TR 2P TIE R
P ¥R B TE ©

18. 7 &

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Raw materials R 9,477 8,711
Work in progress TR 4,594 1,760
Finished goods (notes) 245K am (BT 55) 9,079 10,463
23,150 20,934

Notes: B 5
(0] Included in finished goods are cultural products (including precious stone and (0] X mEERAEEBBREPREES

artifacts) of HK$567,000 (2022: HK$4,303,000) which are held for trading and

resale in the ordinary course of business.

(i) As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, all cultural products of the Group were stored in
a secured warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an

independent third party to the Group.

(iii) For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2018, the Group engaged GEM Appraisal Center of Peking
University (b RIEAEAEFF L) (the “Appraisal Center’) to conduct a
scientific examination for 139 pieces of cultural products regarding their grading
and classification. The management of the Group arranged the valuer, 1t
B EEBERIEERAR (‘dRERHEZEE"), to reassess the market values of
all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2018 based on the findings of
a team of cultural product and jewellery expert (“Experts”) from “China Cultural
Heritage Information and Consulting Centre” led by Ms. YANG Zhen Hua (15Z2E)
and the Appraisal Center concerning the grading and classification of 4 pieces

and 139 pieces of the cultural products respectively.

HEVILER(BREELEEARENR)
567,000 7T (2022 4F : 4,303,000 JT) °

(i)~ M2023%F K%2022F6A30H AL ME 2 FT
BEXEEREFR—BHERNENRETQF
MRBREE  HRAAKEBYE=7 -

(ii) MREEHZE2018F6A0B ELFEZ KA
MHHREMs  A5EBECEZFLRIEAE
BEFEFL(EREHN]) 139 XL E
RHTEESBETR2EE - AEEE
BEEELHEGEEMIERTE RS EET
HERAR(TERZRHEAERE]) KB — KA
BEELZLTBENKAITFEXYELE
HARLIZXEEREREAEREK(E
K RZET R LD B B4 R1391F % &
MILERZRMERD BT  EH2E
1431 XL E MR 20184 6 A30 8 2 B B
TIHEE -
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wIN (3 7

18 INVENTORIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(Continued)

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2022, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t T EI 725 to assess
the current market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June
2022 based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning
the grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition
of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at
30 June 2022 by 1t RmEZ{E, the management of the Group determined
that no significant variance between net realisable values and their carrying
amounts as of 30 June 2022 and no impairment loss was provided for the year
ended 30 June 2022.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2023, the Group engaged the valuer, it R BEIZ1Z to assess
the current market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June
2023 based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning
the grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition
of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at
30 June 2023 by 1t =M EZ(E, the management of the Group determined
that their net realisable values were below their carrying amounts as of 30 June
2023 and the shortfalls resulted in further impairment loss of HK$3,544,000 for
the year ended 30 June 2023.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the Appraisal Center and the valuer, the carrying amount net of
impairment recognised so far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements,
was the best estimate of the recoverable amount of the cultural products.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. 7 & )

BeE - (&)

(i)

(&)

MEEEE2022F6 A0B ILEE 2 KA
MEREms  ASEEESZEHEMILR
MEREREBRERRETFH LHZEL
EmZBMNEDBEZER URERTFHRK
A Tl 214314 XL E MR 202246 A
0B ZHEMSEE - RIBFILETRRE
M2022F6 A30 B H XL E me A E - A
SEEEERTHE20229F6 A30H K]
B FEREFAACHATESEAEZE
M AT R B 2022466 B30 B IEFER
BEfE -

MEEEE2023F6 A0B IELEE 2 KA
BBREmMs  ASEEERFHEMILR
MEREERBRERREETHOLHZEE
ERZeMNEPBE2HE  UREBEGEHR
S wEAE & #8143 1 31k E @ R 20234 6
AR ZBKMBEE - RELZTEE
£ 202346 A 30 H ¥ XL E M {H1E -
AEEEEEREHASZRFERRERE
2023F6A30AMIRE A & MLt = FHEK
#HZE2023F6A30R L FEi#—FRMIEB
183,544,000 TT °

ARREFRE  KREETLRMEERE
THAIRAR REAMBRERRBRZE
N BR B HE SRR E < BRE (B A XL E M Al
W m &5 Z AEE

19. B E 5 K H b Bk =X

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables (Note) e E 5B 2 (M &) 20,377 13,261
Other receivables JFE L L th BR 3R 16,010 10,576
36,387 23,837

Represented by: AT & IEYR -
Current portion BN ER R 1 34,092 23,837
Non-current portion JEBNER =B 1 2,295 —
36,387 23,837
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 10. EIRE 5 & H MR w)

(Continued)

Note: Bt -
The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers ARERARESEFETHEZ %%Eﬁl% ° IR
depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry WEZEH BB REMZMEE - TRRLRT
== SN AN I 2 1S
practice and condition of the market with credit period ranging from 30 days to 180 BERme TEF N F0REIB0RAZEEH -
days.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) presented FEWE 5 R GIREBERBR) RRE R
= =3 i = .
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BREERARZRERAMZINMAT -
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FET
0-60 days 0-60H 17,702 10,658
61-90 days 61-90H 1,091 2,428
91-180 days 91-180 H 1,584 175
20,377 13,261
Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales management team TR B M AT 1] %ﬁ EFR AREZHMBERHEEER
would assess the potential customer’s credit worthiness and define credit limits BERtEEEF 2 FRE YHEMETR
2 L m z= = ES SIE 4%
accordingly for the customers. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed FrREE -BTEFZEEERG2THBE
= 3R A PESN =A=TTS
regularly with reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information A AREC 8% &Ef’@ BN T ERMAEREEN
about their current reputation. EREMETERN -
Details of credit policy impairment assessment of trade receivables for the year ended BE 20234 k20226 A30 R IEF M ERE 5
Eh R N~ e ¥ EB 2
30 June 2023 and 2022 are set out in note 5. HR ARSI SR E AT i 1R R T 5 o
The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) presented BRI E * B 2 51 2 1R 5 Bk AR (I
based on past due status at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRIBMEREBR) ZRERAMIT :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET
Not past due 780 B 18,761 12,923
Less than 1 month past due BEALD A —E B 1,402 338
1 to 3 months past due B —Z=={EA 204 —
3 to 12 months past due W=+ @A 10 —
20,377 13,261

EBREEERAT
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20. LOAN RECEIVABLES

20. EWWE =

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T T

Loan receivables FEWE K 2,914 11,708
Less: provision for impairment losses B TR RE R B (127) (5,854)
2,787 5,854

As at 30 June 2023, loan receivables (net of expected credit losses) of
approximately HK$2,787,000 (2022: approximately HK$5,854,000)
were due from one borrower (2022: three borrowers), unsecured and
with personal guarantee. All the loan receivables are denominated in
Renminbi (‘RMB”). The loan receivables carry fixed interest rate at 6%
(2022: ranged from 8% to 10%) per annum with maturity date within 12
months from the loan draw down date. Up to the date of this report,
approximately HK$2,914,000 was received by the Group.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the

Group.

Certain bank balances and cash of HK$8,441,000 (2022:
HK$11,317,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the Government of the PRC.
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7K2023F6A30H  FEU — & & KA
(2022 : =R fERA) KEF (0B T8 53
ZEEEE) A #2,787,000/8 7t (20224 :
#95,854,0007%8 7T ) * % 5 B R B & 1K 17
REBAER -FIBEERKEFHUAR
BIARMDFE - BFREFRWEEF
M E B6% (20224F : /N F8%ZE10%) »
FHBAAERRERBESHEN T+ @A
NeBEABEAH SEE KL
2,914,000 JT °

1. B5ERREEH

(@ BeRBELEELRIBA A=
8 B s AR 2 52 B fF R e 7K &
REZHE -

A 88,441,000 7T (2022 4F
11,317,0008 ) 2 & TRI1THE
BEASTHUARBHE  MAR
e e N T = W=
B -pHAHEELZEESAZH
B B AT & 1 2 SNEE Bl BT AR PR
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21 . CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 21 . IE, ﬁ & EE, ﬁ % %E ()
(b) ERMEZTEFELEAGBN

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities ¥R

The table below shows the detailed changes in the Group’s TERBIIWAEBEREZTETE
major liabilities arising from financing activities, including both HETEAENEY(BERE LI
cash and non-cash changes. HEe#E) FiF-

At 30 June 2021 7202156 H30H 2,180 11,733 4,427 18,340
Financing cash flow: MERSAKE:

Repayment to ultimate holding company & i& & 4 ¥ I8 A 7 318 — (7,369) — (7,369)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE - - (2,847) (2,847)
Interest paid [EENFAURSS - (492) (137) (629)

Currency realignment ERAR — — (500) (500)
Other changes: Hi %5 :
Interest expenses MEXZH — 492 137 629
Lease termination LIEEE - - (125) (125)
New leases entered RIMEFEE — — 4,166 4,166
Reclassified to other payables EHHEEREMNEMIRR (2,180) (4,364) - (6,544)

(2,180) (3,872) 4,178 (1,874)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 R2022F6 A30A K&

2022 7H1H — — 5,121 5,121

Financing cash flow: MERETRE
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHER®E - - (3,022) (3,022)

Interest paid 2 FE -
- - (3,222) (3,222)
Currency realignment ERRE — — 186 186
Other changes: Hih# 5 :
Interest expenses e E — — 1,290 1,290
Lease termination LIEHE - - (404) (404)
New leases entered RIMEHEE — — 3,130 3,130
— — 2,926 2,926
At 30 June 2023 A2023%F6 A30H — — 5,011 5,011
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22, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2 ENESREMER
2023
2023 &
HK$’000
TF#& T
Trade payables FESE SRR 7,870 3,220
Other payables (Note) FE AT B Ath BR 3R (B 7E) 43,873 43,392
51,743 46,612
Note: It mainly represents amount due to the former ultimate holding company, fe : HFr ERBENAMRKIERARKIE BT
accrued expenses and accrued directors’ bonus to certain subsidiaries ERNAEREKLENE THEBRQ RN
operated in UK. HEFESES -
The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice ENEBSERRRE R EERZREER
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B2 2 RESTZ2FNMAT :
2023
2023
HK$’000
FET
0-60 days 0-60 H 7,017 3,220
91-180 days 91-180 H 853 -
7,870 3,220
The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days to 60 BEERMZEEHNFI0HE6B0H -
days.
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23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

23. 5B @

2023
20234

HK$’000
FTET

Receipts in advance from customers
for provision of services

LR IR 2 FEIE P RIA
31,402 24,096

Movements in contract liabilities

BREEED

2023
2023 F
HK$°000
FE T
At 1 July ®n7A1H 24,096 24,970
Currency realignment fE 5 A= 1,192 (2,872)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of A 2 AR 7% 78 Uk 3R IR M
billing in advance of provision of services BEHAEHBEE N 30,742 25,592
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result RERNERTAEY
of recognising revenue during the year AHBEORFEMER
that was included in contract liabilities AHBRERD
at the beginning of the year (24,628) (23,594)
At 30 June R6A30H 31,402 24,096

All the amount of billings in advance of performance as at 30 June
2023 are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year.

As at 30 June 2023, the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group’s
existing contracts is HK$30,117,000 (2022: HK$22,721,000). These
amount would be recognised as revenue when the services are
provided by the Group over the life of the contracts to the customers,
which is expected to occur over the next three years.

H20236 308 ' FTAE 4 2 FAHA &K
BEFAR—FRBBRAEBA -

R2023F6 A30R  REBEAEBEIREF S
WHIBREBHRTROETINRZERARE
730,117,000/ 7T (2022 £F : 22,721,000
BT c AEEBRENFRANREF IR
AR %5 B HE AR L R IE B IR ES - IR HEI R
FEBRAR=ZFERNER SRS -
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HEAE
2023
2023 F
HK$’000
FHET
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEEE
Within one year —F R 3,087 2,728
Within a period of more than one year —F A L ET BB F
but not more than two years 1,481 1,966
Within a period of more than two years FIA BT BBERF
but not more than five years 443 427
5,011 5,121
Less: Amounts due for settlement within WA BBEBETBTAE
12 months shown under current liabilities 1218 A A B HiE B/ FE (3,087) (2,728)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months  JEREIBEE FE R 121E A
shown under non-current liabilities BEIEEENE 1,924 2,393
25. WARRANTY PROVISION 25. R ERE
2023
2023
HK$°000
FBx
At 1 July w7A1H 1,053 1,062
Currency realignment B AR 45 (142)
Provided during the year FANETIR 25 142
Utilised during the year FAEA = ©)
At 30 June 76830 H 1,123 1,053
The warranty provision represents the management’s best estimate of REREEEEERRBTERRER
the Group’s liability under 12-month warranties granted on system HABRRERZESHE BRETESR
products, based on prior experience and industry average for defective Ed+ =@ ARE MY A EBE T
products. EEL 2 &EFME -

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
1 40 Annual Report 2023



4= A B

w3 7

1l3

V5 SRR BTt ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

26. R K 18 A 5t 2

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Retirement benefit contributions to MRS E 2 FREHERET AT
the Group’s defined contribution scheme ZRIRE T = 1,099 1,000
Retirement benefit contributions to MAER 2 EEEMNTE XM
the Group’s defined benefit scheme ZRAIRTE R R 1,003 932
2,102 1,982
(a) Defined contribution scheme (a) EEEMHEKEE

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the
“MPF”) scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme
charged to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

ARRETETHERARID
B B RILRIKE A58 - % HET
B EERAKRBZEED AR
B UFRABLRTEAENZE
Al

H2000F12A 8 A5EEAEHER
BB EAREREERFMER
2EBHEATES((RESR]) T
gl RBENKRZARBEEFTEIRIK
18 F B AN 15 7K £ B 12 55 TE & 5T &
BMARE 2L R REBES B E
oz fHRER e

AEERTBEZMNERREE R
TESBTBRFER BT ER
BRABHETEIKE - NREBZANE
EBADLZTERABZENKRE
MEHEELHR  ARERMEM
B FHIEEHRR D AEERZ
BRBHGHE 2 E— &R -
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

142

Defined contribution scheme (continued)

During the year, the total expense recognised in consolidated
statement of the profit or loss amounted to HK$1,099,000 (2022:
HK$1,000,000) and represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
schemes.

Defined benefit scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company in UK operate an
administered and funded pension scheme in the UK. The scheme
provides defined pension benefits with reference to the final
salary of the members at retirement and their length of service.
The scheme was closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

The contributions which are determined by a qualified actuary on
the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit
method are charged to the profit or loss. Under the scheme, the
employees are entitled to a pension between 1.67% and 2.50%
of final salary for each year of pensionable service at an age of
65. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The most
recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present
value of the defined benefit obligations as at 30 June 2023 were
prepared by Buck Consultants Limited, Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA),
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries (“FIA”) (2022:
Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA)), for accounting reporting purpose. The
assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results
of the valuation are those relating to the rate of return on
investments and the rates of increase in salaries, pensions and
share dividends.

The funded pension scheme exposes the Group to actuarial risks
such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and
salary risk.
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(a)

(b)

26. R K 18 A 51 & )

ok CRE ¢ )

FA-RirABaRER A H
1,099,0007% 7t (2022 £ : 1,000,000
BIL) BASBERZEFT 8 AR
EZ L REETEIER 2 BT o

E# R A &

ARABETETAENWE QAR
Y—EBEBATEERERZENRE
FIEH &l o T8I TR E B R IR IR
CEREEMRERBE FHEEE
BRI F o b ET 8] B 20031 A
1HRTEIFRKELHA-

BRIBEABERBEMZRENEMNE
ROEETTHEBEE 2HN - ITRE
AR BB S BE — &K
AR FEESRFEIRIKE - &8
NI HEHFE1.67%E250% ° &
FEWERHEMRKERR - &
M2 EEREREEMNEAER
Bz fEEEETIR202346 A30H
# 77 37 B Buck Consultants Limited 22
Rachel Downs A A (& B 15 & Rl 1
eEXeE  [KEIREMBEE
# & 8 |) (20224 : Rachel Downs
AXK(EHBEMBPEEREE))
B NFEETEHRESE ¥
HEEREREEYECBENE
BIRERMERET €  BRRKSHER
B2 FHiE -

HFRARETEEAREEHERREE
Bk mERR - FEER - K
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EEEANE @

R KB R E 0

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality
corporate bond vyields; if the return on plan asset is below this
rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has relatively
balanced investment in equity securities, debt instruments and
real estates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the
trustee of the pension fund considers it appropriate that a
reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity
securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by
the fund.

Interest risk

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability;
however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return
on the plan’s debt investments.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan
participants both during and after their employment. An increase
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

Salary risk
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such,
an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

& & B B
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b)

144

Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Discount rate AR IR %
Expected rate of salary increase TEEE S AR
Future pension increases RAGRIK & FHIE

26. R K 18 A 51 & )

(b) EEENFE @

FAZIEBERRET :

At 30 June At 30 June
2023 2022
M2023F MR20224F
6H30H 6 A30H
5.25% 3.75%
2.95% 2.85%
3.15% 3.1%

The actuarial valuation updated to 30 June 2023 by Mrs. Rachel
Downs (FIA) (2022: Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA)) showed that the
market value of the scheme assets was HK$268,587,000 (2022:
HK$307,438,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets
represented 100% (2022: 102%) of the benefits that had accrued
to members.

Under the recovery plan dated 31 May 2016, the Group has
agreed to contribute GBP340,000 per annum increasing at 4%
on each 1 July from 1 July 2018 into the plan. In addition, the
Scottish Limited Partnership for the plan has been arranged such
that the plan will receive an income stream of GBP400,000 per
annum at 1 July 2018 increasing at 4% on each 1 July thereafter.
As at 30 June 2023, the duration of the plan liability is 11 years
(2022: 15 years).
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Rachel Downs K A ( & & 15 & Bl
& & Xg 8 ) (20224 : Rachel
Downs K A(RBEBEMpE A&
F e 8 ) F H E2023%F6A30H
ZREFEES FEEEZM
B /5268,587,0007 JT (20224 :
307,438,000/ L) MZEEE Z
BEEBEALEREEREBSEAZ
100% (2022 4F : 102%) °

R B H A2016F5 A31 8 2 k&
&l AREERE B20185F7 A1
B RE@E7A18 RZat&8F
& 340,000 & - & F 1 MN4% - 1t
SN BEREET SR EHRREA R D
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

BRI FE B

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) =& F S @
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or HEERANEBRETE NG S B
loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the defined LEMIEKRRPERA S
benefit pension plans are as follows: m
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE R FAT
Scheme administrative costs FHEI7T BB AR (1,930) (1,722
Net interest income B WA FERE 927 790
Components of defined benefit costs RERCERZ THEEMK
recognised in profit or loss (included in AR ES D (FEA— M K 1T
general and administrative expenses) B ) (1,003) (932)
Remeasurement of the net defined BT EEREENABEFE
benefit liability:
Return on plan assets (excluding FFEIEEEHR(TEIE
amounts included in net interest BEAFBRZ FE 2
expense) k) (50,543) (68,305)
Actuarial gains arising from changes /\ AREZEHEEZ
in demographic assumptions A — 284
Actuarial gains arising from VEBREEHMEEZ
changes in financial assumptions BE U= 46,867 95,882
Actuarial losses arising KEHRABRMEEAZRE
from experience adjustments E5 18 (6,103) (7,771)
Components of defined benefit costs REMZ2E(ZH) WA
recognised in other comprehensive TR 2 TE RE 4R M BR AN 48 B
(expense)/income il (9,779) 20,090
Total e (10,782) 19,158
EREEERAA
2023 F 3§ W 45
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (continued)

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial
position arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its
defined benefit pension plans is as follows:

26.

R KB R EE 0

(b) EEENFE @

B A& B 2 5 R AE N R K ET 8 A&
EMELZEBEFAREMH
ST BT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Fair value of scheme assets SFEIEEZAFE 268,587 307,438
Present value of funded obligations BEEEZHE (268,607) (300,273)
Net (liability)/asset arising from defined FREAMAEREESEZ
benefit obligation (B8 EEFHE (20) 7,165

The Group expects contribution of GBP354,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,526,000) will be made (2022: GBP354,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,377,000)) to the defined benefit plans during the next
financial year.
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
are as follows:

26. B K8 5T 8 ()

(b) EEEANE @
FEEANAEBEEHNT

2023
2023
HK$’000
FEx
Opening defined benefit obligation FATE BRI A A 300,273 439,181
Currency realignment fE o, A= 12,248 (42,803)
Interest cost B AR 11,241 7,335
Remeasurement (gains)/losses: S E (RSB
Actuarial gains arising from AOREZEHAEEZ
changes in demographic assumptions BE U = (284)
Actuarial gains arising from VBBREESMEL Y
changes in financial assumptions & Uk (46,867) (95,882)
Actuarial losses arising from KERRAEREAZREE
experience adjustments EE 6,103 7,771
Benefits paid FFT 151 48 A (14,391) (15,045)
Closing defined benefit obligation 45 TF B AR B AE 268,607 300,273
Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: HEBEE2 AFEEHMT -
2023
2023
HK$’000
FEx
Opening fair value of plan assets FHFEEEZAFE 307,438 423,163
Currency realignment fE o, A= 12,394 (42,364)
Interest income MEMA 12,168 8,125
Scheme administrative costs =T 817 Bk AR (1,930) (1,722)
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts st 2| & &E 2 BI® (B IED 5t
included in net interest expense) AFBELZHE FE 22 F) (50,543) (68,305)
Contribution by employer BEHK 3,451 3,586
Benefits paid FfT <5 48 F1 (14,391) (15,045)
Closing fair value of plan assets FHEAEEEZATFE 268,587 307,438

EBEEERAT
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b)

148

Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the scheme assets at the end of the reporting
period is analysed as follows:

26. R K 18 A 51 & )

EEEE S @

HEBEERREH AR ZAF
BT :

(b)

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

Equity instruments (Quoted) #m T A (RE) 150,253 181,085
Debt instruments (Quoted) B TEGRE) 102,399 104,314
Other assets (Note) HiEE (M) 15,935 22,039
268,587 307,438

The actual return on scheme assets was negative
HK$40,305,000 (2022: HK$61,902,000).

Note: The balance mainly represent the cash and cash equivalents.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
defined obligation are discount rate and expected salary
increase. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while
holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher/(lower), the defined
benefit obligations would decrease by HK$6,902,000/(increase
by HK$6,902,000) (2022: decrease by HK$8,997,000/(increase
by HK$8,997,000)).

If the expected salary growth increases/(decreases) by 0.25%,
the defined benefit obligations would increase by HK$3,595,000/
(decrease by HK$3,595,000) (2022: increase by HK$4,160,000/
(decrease by HK$4,160,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would
occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions
may be correlated.
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FHEI & E 2 BB B 3R & 8 40,305,000

7 7T (20224 : 61,902,000 7T) °
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mMBHFSEER A (T EK)
0.25% ' & R f& A A& & i 15 i
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

(c)

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the
present value of the defined benefit obligation has been
calculated using the projected unit method at the end of the
reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating
the defined benefit obligations liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

Forfeited contribution

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined a
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

For the retirement benefits of the Group’s qualifying employees in
the UK, the Group has participated in the retirement benefits
scheme operated by the global HR benefits and human resource
consulting firm authorised and regulated by the Financial
Conduct Authority. The employees are entitled to post retirement
cash commutation. Details of the scheme are set out in note 3
and note 25(b) to the consolidated financial statements. No
forfeited contribution under UK retirement benefit Scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

At 30 June 2023 and 2022, there were no significant forfeited
contributions which arose upon employees leaving the schemes
before they are fully vested in the contributions and which are
available to reduce the contributions payable by the Group in the
future.

(b)

(c)

26. & K &8 R 5T & )

EEE RS @

BESN  R2FIIA £ BURE DR
ERENEEHER RS M T
ERNEAEMERAE  HE
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RAEBEFEZHREDNE T
Rz ER BRI EEE -

R WA K

H2000F 12 A1B & REEIRE
HEERABRELQMAHNEAES
el ((mESEtal) wEesta
2R & 58 H M A FE & & 8 IE B
BHIEATEETEEEREM- &
BeECEERAB LI AL
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HEBRBERMRAGTHZLEER
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27. DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$59,017,000 (2022: HK$59,072,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

27. iE E B 18

RREPTER  NEBERIAZH
T8 &5 18 A& #959,017,00078 JT (2022 4F :
59,072,000/ 7T) * Al B{EH# 3E B 18 2 &
Flo AR ARBETER H & 2@ F 2RIR » )
WEBRELEHBEEE - LS HIEER
A 4 R HA 7 R 45 8 o

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(@) Movements in components of equity

28. R AN K &8
(a) BEZH =28

AEEGABRAREEBOZF
NEFERGEHBZERAREE
BAERBBHRA - ARARRAZ
18 51l & 2 1 F 9) & F REZ H

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in SN 5E34
note 34.
(b) Share capital (b) 7
Number of
shares Amount
IR 13 % B &8
’000 HK$’000
T A& FHET
Authorised share capital with par value of & R E{H0.175 7T
HK$0.1 (2022: HK$0.1) each: (20224 : 0.1 L)
ZIEERA
Balance at 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022, M2021F7H18 -
1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023 20226 A30H -
2022F 7418 &
20234 6 430 B 2 4 # 5,000,000 500,000

w 6@ KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Share capital (continued)

28. IR AN K 7 )
(b) A& m)

Number of Share Shares Capital
shares capital premium reserve Total
RHOHAE BRAE BROBE RIS st
’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T TAET TFA& T FA&T FAT
Issued and fully paid share fE (B 0.178 T /Y
capital with par value of BT RABRKA
HK$0.1 each:
Balance at 1 July 2021 R2021F7 A1 B 2 & & 217,039 21,704 799,317 966,807 1,787,828
Issue of share through BB E W EAT
placing (note) B 15 (M) 43,404 4,340 7,726 — 12,066
Share issue expenses BITRMER - - (302) - (302)
Balance at 30 June 2022, 2022%6 5301 -
1 July 2022 and 30 June 20225 7H1E R
2023 2023F 6 A30H 2 &tk 260,443 26,044 806,741 966,807 1,799,592
Note: On 24 May 2022, the Company issued and placed 43,404,000 ordinary it aE : R2022F5H24H © AR A A F K
shares of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.278 per placing fid & MK 15 0.2787 T M B & B [ 98
share to independent third parties, and raised gross proceeds of N = 5 BT L& T 43,404,000
approximately HK$12,066,000 to be used as general working capital of BARRNL R BEESHAH
the Group. #)12,066,0007% 7T 5 A 1 78 & @ &)
—REEES -
(c) Reserves

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in share
premium account are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the amount arising from the
reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of 5 Ordinary shares of
HK$1 each into 1 shares in 2018) of HK$5 each by
cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of HK$4.9 each
share of the Company in 2018. The capital reserve is
available for distribution under the Companies Law of
Cayman Islands.

(c) f#1E

(i)

(ii)

IR 19 & B
BaBRERXFEE
ERREEE -REMASHE
SRBE BN EEBERZE
EAIDIRTARBRR I
EEZEEIDRREZBIE
ARPERENEERAE
EBBEREDIRAZER -

NG

B e N R R 20184
AE R E BB T 250k &R
MR & Gt R 2 Bty & BHiK -
R2018F ATESH B B ATy
A RER4.9E T RR AR
ARBBREE T 2B MHE
BEMELEzE®EH BEXRE
ARBEFASESRABADIK

EEKEEARAT
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 28. R AN K f# & w0

(iii) Translation reserve
The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company, Champion or any of their respective
subsidiaries, may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the
Company respectively.

On 29 December 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved
and adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) and the share option scheme adopted on 30 November
2012 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) was expired. The New Share
Option Schemes were adopted for the purpose () to enable the
Company to grant Options to the eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the growth and development of the
Group; (ii) to attract and retain personnel to promote the sustainable
development of the Group; and (jii) to align the interest of the grantees
with those of the Shareholders to promote the long-term financial and
business performance of the Company. The basis of eligibility of any of
the eligible persons to the grant of share options shall be determined
by the Board from time to time on the basis of their contribution or
potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group. The
New Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from 29 December 2022.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the
Board, which must not be more than 10 years from the date of the
grant. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the New Share Option Schemes for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

w 62 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

30

The subscription price in respect of any option will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the offer, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the Offer; and (i) (where applicable)
the nominal value of a share.

The details of the principal terms and conditions of the New Share
Option Scheme were summarised in the circular of the Company dated
30 November 2022.

Other than the share option schemes of the Company aforementioned,
at no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

No options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
under the New Share Option Scheme and Old Share Option Scheme
since their adoption.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a bi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

29.

30.
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EREREMNRBESHESEE 8
TELRUTESE  (ZEHNBH(KAE
AEXH)EBIMEERERMIG
f& D W T ME (||)E%T§EQ\’JEIE§§GET
XAEHMIAETEREERAIAKG
HURTE i) (@ R) RH B mEE -

FHERE SN EIRRERTERS
KA QR HH A2022%11 A30H &
R o

i Nl NN Bl B -y o B NRNYNE]
ok EL AT B 8 2 B 70 B A A ] B P A
SEEMNZH REARBDNEETAEB
BARDAR S ERMEMEABRRZ KD
KB 7 M & e

BEREFERERRESFEER
MR ARRIERE  ITTEXFHEE
P o

BARE ke EE

AEEEBREER  UERAEEAZ
ERFBEAUSELETAEE AR
TEBBEBRRAZ REFER/FNE

FRMESE®H  NEH 2 KA L
FE -
AEBZEXRGEBHRITEERART
BAEANBGEZEK ETERREEHT
A EEERERE -
EEBYXFEHERAEB -EREHNZ
— WD EEFEREARARERARE
AlzHEBAR REEEEZ A&H
7538 B AT R A A0 K B BB B A DA KR B 1T

MEXBEEREER UWTHEERE
ANEETE -

EEKEEARAT
2023 F 5]

163



AR B RS HR R I et (B8)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202346 430H 30 JUNE 2023

31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 31.&&ZHEXH

The Group as lessor AEBEAEHAA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group contracted with lessees in NBEHTERE  ANEEgBERAMER
respect of leasing of premises and certain equipment which is included ETEARE HMIERBERAKZEX
in plant and machinery and communications networks, which fall due WEBEPFI LA ERHBERNAT
as follows:

Plant and

machinery and

Land and communications

buildings networks

tiRETF RBGESK

HK$’000 HK$’000

TR TR
Within one year —FR 323 4,259 3,561

In the second to fifth year inclusive EZFEERFA

(BHEERME) 1,788 2,880 2,908
Over five years RENUE 2,212 50 —
4,323 7,189 6,464

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS N.AEALRS

(i) During the year, the Group had the following transactions with () FA AEFHBTEZET
Champion: R
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET F& T
Nature of transactions REME
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AEEMTEE S IK
for treasury services Risz BB = 492
Fees paid by the Group to Champion for 7N & Bl4% B AN [A) 78 & % 1+t
the provision of office premises and REBRLNEWENRME
facilities, and management services, on AR EIRRY 2 &R (M
cost basis (note) =) = 380
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AEERMBEZNIEM
for wages and salaries HecEBH = 637
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AEEMTE X HES
for the consultancy services R 75 & A = 12
Note: These transactions were carried out after negotiation between the iz ZEX SR AEBHNATEER L
Group and Champion. The fees paid for the provision of office premises T -MRERAEWEREFHUAR
and facilities, and management services. These transactions constituted EEREAIMNZEBA - BRIE(E
continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the WwRETHRB)EMAZENER %
Main Board Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from EXSGBRIBEREIS R
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing HRZERGREEAEFETES
Rules as these transactions are sharing of administrative services ZEIRRAEEXBITHEIER
between the Group and Champion group on a cost basis and the cost B B AZA FHR - WIRA
are identifiable and are allocated to the group entities involved on a fair TAEENEESBTAEFRANANE
and equitable basis. B ALEZEXFIBREN(ERLE
TRANDFEUAZNERZHE -

(i)  The key management personnel are those persons holding positions iy FRABEIEABREABEFIBEL
with authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling BHEEEMETE - EEMEE KR
the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the EEFHHNBUMAE  BEAA
directors of the Company and the five highest paid individuals. Key AEENREZESHAE - TEF
management personnel remuneration are as follows: BAEFHFMOT :

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

HK$°000 HK$’000

THET FHET

Salaries and other benefits e MNEMmER 9,859 9,781
Performance related incentive payments BIERBEKRzES 5,240 3,075
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & K38 7 & &1 4 3% 414 469

15,513 13,325

EBREEERAT
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 33. A FEHFTE

166

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments and investment property measured as at 30 June 2023 on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date such as listed stocks, bonds, funds
or any assets that have a regular mark to market mechanism for setting
a fair market value.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Level 2 assets are assets that do not have regular
market pricing, but whose fair value can be determined based on other
data values or market prices.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs.

Assets measured at fair value

NFEER

TREBEREFEFEHEEESS 2 AEBR
2023 F6 H30H 2z 2B TE RIEEME
AEBE ENEEEBSUBHREERE
1B3FRI[AFEFZ2IMRAEZ=HMAFE
BH EAFEFEFSEZERTIZ
EHMERMAB @B AR 2 TBR T
REEMMETE  FBOT:

- ERIEE: ERAE—EREAK
% - B0 LA 4R R 2 o B (B0 £ IR
B ED)RRBERA THEME
T A B AR R 0 (AT ()% 0 (5 1
AENEAEERT S L2 BECR
FBE)HEATHE-

EFE_ERHE-ERBE_ELHAK
B RAREFEE—"EBRZAUBREA
i BTHRAERTAERG A UK
HEATFE -F_EBEEATEERM
BEBZEE WHEAFERIREEM
BEEERMEMET -

FE-EAGEE: RAEATABERGA
BEBFTERAFE-

BAVEHEZEE

Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ATE E-EH E-ER E=EBR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TH&T FE T THE T
As at 30 June 2023 K 202346 A30H
Assets BE
Investment property "EE 6,013 - - 6,013
Financial assets at FVTPL A FEFABFZ 2 ¢ REE
— listed equity securites ~ — _E TR AN 35 & 14,027 14,027 - -
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

33. A FEF E @

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair
value measurements are as follows:

BAFEFEZEE @

FARSE=BALLBENE2 &%
ZEBEIIDT -

2023
—E_-=

HK$’000
FE R

Investment property "EME
At 1 July RntH—H -
Currency realignment ME 5, 58 B 126
Transferred from property, plant and equipment HEAME WMELEZE 5,887
At 30 June RANA=+H 6,013

Currency realignment is recognised in other comprehensive income in
exchange reserve.

All the gains or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from
the investment property and listed equity securities held during the
reporting period.

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.

The fair value of all investment property located in UK was derived
using the market comparable approach based on price per square feet
or square metre observed in recent market prices and adjusted for
certain unobservable inputs including the adjustment of the building
age, location, fair value market rent and floor level to reflect different
locations and conditions.

PE AR B H A 2 R 2 [ S BE R
HRERR o

A 47 [ R 35 R TR A 7 R4 9
R AR RE BB AR ENER b
TRAE S -

RREFERN F—BER F_EAK
FEoERzBELEEE-

ERURNEE 2 REMEZ RABET
RENIHTEBERSZ2E8FTRK
FHARERKBAMBLEORGEH A5
ETTABEEARE BREER it
BoAnBEWSESRERBZAEM
fEH T - AR [R) 3t B R thO

EREEARAT
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 33. A EEFE @
Assets measured at fair value (Continued) BATEFEZEE @

Investment property Direct comparison method Price per square metre, using market A slight increase in the price per
located in UK BERLEBE direct comparable and taking into square metre will increase
MREREZBEEME account the location and other significantly with fair value
The key input is price per square metre  individual factors such as age of the & F KB REH EFH S
IZERAMBREBYHKER property, which is HK$13,732 DR EBEEREED

(equivalent to GBP1,379).

FAMSIEZLRYEL R
HARMEEREEMEREZ
Rz BFHKRER RT3
BT (FBE 1,379 85)
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. & A B B &4 R &
OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T F& T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT B A T 3B 61,497 58,336
Interests in subsidiaries NLINEMNG o 502 502
61,999 58,838
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables JRE LS H A BR X 1,253 316
Cash and cash equivalents RehReFE 203 9,357
1,456 9,673
Current liabilities REBERE
Other payables JE AT B Ath BR 3K 20,939 19,833
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHT /B A R 3RIB 8,729 10,829
29,668 30,662
Net current liabilities REBAEEFEHE (28,812) (20,989)
Net assets EEZFE 33,787 37,849
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital B& 7 26,044 26,044
Reserves (note) & (M 3E) 7,743 11,805
Total equity EEEE 33,787 37,849

AR A 2B KB R20235F9 A27
BREZeARBETE  WH T

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 September 2023

and are signed on its behalf by: EEREREE:
CHAN KOON WA LIU KA LIM
F & 2 BER
Chairman Director
e 2F

EBREEERAT
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. Z& A T Bf B 48 5% & @)
OF THE COM PANY (Continued)

Note: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and prior years are fizk: ARAFRAEERATEEHESD
as follows: W

At 1 July 2021 H2021F7H1H 799,317 966,807 195,874 (1,951,183) 10,815
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEBELEZEMRAIAE

expense for the year — —
Issuance of new shares upon placing B¢ € % {7 B % 17 3 IR

of shares less transaction costs RS 7,424 - — - 7,424

- (6,434)  (8,434)

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 H2022F 6 A308 &
202247 A1H 806,741 966,807 195,874 (1,957,617) 11,805
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEBERERIBE

expense for the year — — — (4,062) (4,062)

At 30 June 2023 7202346 A30H 806,741 966,807 195,874 (1,961,679) 7,743
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20236 A30H 30 JUNE 2023

35. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2023 and 30 June

2022 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
Name of subsidiaries operations
HEQRER MBI S

Aspire Management Limited British Virgin Islands

ABEAREE

Bingo Profits Limited* British Virgin Islands

RBEARES

Samoa

BEETHE

Financial Vantage Limited™

Infopage Limited UK
=

Multitone (UK) Limited UK
®

Kantone Energy Trading Company Limited Hong Kong
BRERESERRA EE

Kantone Logistics Management Limited ~ Hong Kong
ERYRERBRRA EE
Kontone Development Limited* Hong Kong
BBRERBRAR" EE
M.C. Holdings Limited* Cayman Islands
HMERE
Multitone Communications Limited UK
®

Multitone Scottish Limited Partnership UK

Nominal value of issued
share capital/registered capital/

5. MELARRBRE

R 2023% 6 A30H K& 2022%6 A30H & A&
NAISHBARIZHFBHOT

Proportion of nominal value
of issued share capital held

Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
BRTRAEE EMELR/ ARRAFHERT
BEARE BRAEE LA TEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 2022 20234 20224
Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
US$2,636,320  US$2,636,320 REZR
EBR ERK
2,636,320% T  2,636,320E T
Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EERIER TERIET REER
Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EERIET TERIET TEXY
Ordinary £1,000  Ordinary £1,000 100% 100%  Dormant
ZER il BELEES
1,000 % 8 1,000 &5
Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
£5,500,000 £5,500,000 REZR
LER LEk
5,500,000%# 5,500,000 &
Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
HK$10,000 HK$10,000 REER
EBR EER
10,0007 7T 10,0005% 7T
Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
TER1ET Laik1ET REER
Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
LER2ET L@ikos T TEEB
Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
£5,500,002 £5,500,002 REER
EER gl
5500,002% & 5,500,002 % £
Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Dormant
EBRI00EE LTRRI0ES BEILEEH
Capital Capital 100% 100%  Investment holding
Contribution Contribution REER
£300 £300
BEExRE BRRE
300 % 8% 300
EBREEERAT
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35. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 35.fE QA BE@m

Multitone Communication Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Dormant
= £25,000 £25,000 BELEER
EBR Bk
25,000 3 £ 25,0003 &%
Multitone Rentals Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Dormant
®E EERI100%EE LBRI00EE BEELEEH
Multitone Electronics PLC UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding, design
i £3,830,107 £3,830,107 and manufacture of
ZER Lk communication systems
3,830,107 %8 3,830,107 #H & and equipment
REER R REE
BEZFRRRE
Multitone General Partner Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Investment holding
HE ZERI0EE L@EK100%ES REER
Multitone Electronics Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Manufacture of
BREE MR285,000 MR285,000 communication systems
EER285,000 i iE 285,000 and equipment
BRADZSE BRARSE EEBERELK
Multitone Retirement Benefits Plan UK Ordinary £1 Ordinary £1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Trustee Limited HE EERIRE LW ES REZER
Multiton Elektronik GmbH Germany Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Distribution of communication
= €1,022,584 €1,022,584 systems and equipment
EER LEk SHBERRRRXE
1,022,584t 1,022,584 170
Paging Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Inactive
HE £1,100,100 £1,100,100 TmEs
ZER EEK
1,100,100% & 1,100,100 & £
Shenzhen Hengyu Science and PRC Registered Registered 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited H capital capital REER
(note (i) RMB24,000,000 RMB24,000,000
BEMEORINBRR A R AMEEARYE ZMEAARK
24,000,000 7T 24,000,0007T
Abundant Success Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of consulting
Commercial) Limited b4 MOP100,000 MOP100,000 services, research and
RHE S CRMIEE) —ABRAR TERRMYE  TEREME development, and trading
100,000 7T 100,0007C of cultural products
REBERRS  HER
FABEAREEXLER
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35. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

35. B 2~ 7] & E )

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/registered capital/ of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
ERTRAEE EMRER/ ADE BB RT
WEARERE MBI S BEARE BTt f TEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 2023% 2022
Wollaston Limited* Samoa/Macau Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BETES/RM EERIETR S REER
Zonal Care Incorporated* British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$2 Ordinary US$2 100% 100%  Inactive
Macau TER2ET L3l Ve EmEK
KBGBRES/
R
Sky Sign Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
REERBRAR" EEBHEAREE US$50,000 US$50,000 REER
ZER gl
50,000 % 7t 50,000 7T
Sure Beauty Investments Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEREBRAF" HBERRHS US$50,000 US$50,000 REER
LER LERk
50,000 % 7T 50,000% 7T
Notes: B

Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 20 years commencing from 17
October 2003 and renewed for a term of 30 years commencing from 17
October 2023.

Directly held by the Company.

For identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which affected
the results of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 30 June
2023 and 30 June 2022 or at any time during the year.

@) INEBE M E - FHIH2003F 1017 H i
F=+F X h2023F 10 A17H B 5F E &
=t&-

* HARAREERS -

! EHEFER -

ERAIIARBMBRARREAFEE
BABATZERNBRASEEEFEE
ARHEZHMBRRF -

£ B A 7] 2202346 530 B N 2022 4F
6A30H K FAFEMEMEYETMER

-
A

EEKEEARAT
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS E

2023

2023 F
HK$’000
FH T

Revenue W &5 128,737 127,755 139,069 146,944 143,966

Profit/(loss) from ordinary &BiAT B £
activities before taxation % #|,/ (Ei8)

Profit/(loss) from operating Rt E b & & 18 H
activities excluding other IR S

operating items (E548) 9,646 5,018 7,354 1,110 1,793
Other operating items Hib#e =18 8 - - - - -
Profit/(loss) before taxation B &3 F, (5 18) 9,646 5,018 7,354 1,110 1,798
Income tax (expense)/credit  FT15 % (), & 48 (460) (1,665) 2,765 644
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF,(EBE) 9,694 4,558 5,689 3,875 2,437
Attributable to: 15 -

Owners of the Company AKRARHEEA 9,694 4,558 5,689 3,875 2,437

Non-controlling interests JE 15 A% IR PR RE S — — _ _ _

9,694 4,558 5,689 3,875 2,437
Dividends & B — — — — —
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
2023
2023
HK$’000
FHBT
Total assets BELE 223,951 210,187 216,680 186,243 162,438
Total liabilities BiERsE 89,358 76,908 109,017 133,422 94,980
Shareholders’ funds REES 134,593 133,279 107,663 52,821 67,458

Equity attributable to owners KR &) # A A FE1H
of the Company #Em 134,593 133,279 107,663 52,821 67,458
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR IR B RE S — — _ _ _

134,593 133,279 107,663 52,821 67,458
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